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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT

The directors present their strategic report for the period from 25 September 2021 to 30 September 2022 (53 week
period ended 30 September 2022, hereto referred to as ‘Year ended 30 September 2022°).

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The profit for the period, after taxation is set out in the profit and loss account on page 11. The directors did not
propose or pay a dividend in the year ended 30 September 2022 (2021 - £nil).

\

BUSINESS REVIEW

The company s principal activity is music publishing. The company’s income is generated by the use of musical-
compositions in which the copyright is either owned or administered by the company. The result of the company for
the year ended 30 September 2022 is set out in the Profit and Loss Account on page 11. The position of the company
. at 30 September 2022 is set out in the Balance Sheet on page 12. Both the result and the position of the company were
in line with the expectations of the directors. '

The key financial and other performance indicators during the period were as follows:

Yearended30 = Yearended 24 Change
September 2022 September 2021

£°000 £000 %
Turnover . 137,137 106,490 29% -
Operating profit . 24,293 3,170 666%
Profit before taxation . 25,750. 4,427 482%
Fixed assets 207,972 24,831 738%
Net curfent assets " 48,868 21,815 148%
Net assets 248,427 . 39,369 544%

Turnover increased by 29% in the period to £137,137,397. This is primarily driven by a growth in‘digital streaming
income, in addition to recovery of performance income followmg the lifting of COVID 19 restrictions, which 1mpacted
the previous financial year. .

Whilst turnover increased by 29%, gross profit increased by 46% due to an increase in NPS (Net Publisher’s Share)
% following the performance recovery as this revenue type carries a more favourable margin.

Operating profit has increased by 666% to £24,293,177. This is predominantly due to foreign exchange gains on cash
pool loans with other group entities, which are denominated in US Dollars.

The 124% increase in net current assets to £48,868,164 is largely driven by amounts owed by group‘undertakings in
addition to an increase in the revenue accrual for the current year, due to the increase in digital and performance
revenue.

On 17 December 2021 the Company acquired the global music publishing rights to David Bowie’s sdng
catalogue for $250 million. The transaction was settled via the parent company. This acquisition has contributed to
the increase in Intangible assets of £182,068,746 in the year.

Given the nature of its business, the company considers there to be no key performance indicators directly relating to
environmental issues or employee matters, nor are there likely to be any future developments in this area-for the
~ foreseeable future.



WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

DUTY TO PROMOTE THE SUCCESS OF THE COMPANY

The directors define the successful running of the company as supporting the group in achieving its wider long term
strategy. The group’s long-term strategy is to be a sustainable profitable business, maintaining its reputation as the
home to an unparalleled family of creative artists and songwriters. The success of the company and group is dependent
on positive and effective dealings with all stakeholders and so the directors were mindful of the long term
consequences of key commercial decisions made during the period, and determined that these were in the interests of
the group’s employees, suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, as they were all aligned to the group’s growth
strategy.

The company’s and group’é success depends on the company’s reputation with customers and other stakeholders
being maintained, and so any impact on the community and environment of commercial decisions is considered
carefully.

“As set out in the directors’ report, the company engages with employee representatives on a wide range of matters.
The company also regularly engages with suppliers to maintain these important relationships.
The directors confirm that throughout the period they have acted, in good faith, in a way that they consider to be most
likely to promote the success of the company and the group for the benefit of its members as a whole.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES ' ‘ .

In general, the company is not subject to any specific risks and uncertainties other than those prevalent in the music
publishing market in general. These include the continued threat of unlicensed music usage and the general decline
of the physical market although new digital music platforms are now starting to deliver increased monetary benefits
to music publishers which significantly offset the weakening traditional markets. .

Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic continued to impact business operations for the prior period ending 24 September
© 2021, the lifting of restrictions and lockdowns has resulted in a positive trend in revenue for the company in the
current year ended 30 September 2022, as performance income recovers to pre-pandemic levels. :

The company is not presently aware of any events or circumstances arising from the Russia-Ukraine conflict that
would require us to update any estimates, judgments or materially revise the carrying value of our assets or
liabilities, or which impact the ability of the business to continue as a going concern. The company receives income
from Russia through group royalty earnings (income for the period ending 30 September 2022 was £308,626),
however this is not.considered a material value, therefore does not constitute a threat to the ability of the business to
continue as a going concern should this income not be received.

The company estimates may change, however, as new events occur and additional information is obtained, and any
such changes will 5)6: recognized in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from estimates, and any such
differenceés may bé material to our consolidated financial statements.

As with any business, competitive risks also exist. Traditional competitors such as other major and independent
publishers are now joined by new entrarits and business models, particularly in the audio-visual sector.

In order to mitigate the effect of these items, the company is constantly reviewing its artists and repertoire (A&R)
* strategy as well as maximising new media opportunities. .
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

Exposure to price and credit risk
The Company is exposed to price risk in relation to the relationship with external bodies such as local third party
collection societies. Mechanical and performance royalties are calculated using rates and distribution rules which have
been set by the board of performing rights societies, which directly impact company revenue. ’

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due. The company has
implemented policies that require appropriate collectability checks on potential customers before sales are made.

Exposure to liquidity and cash flow risk
The Company is part of the Warner Music Group cash pooling arrangement, through which its working capital
requirements are adequately covered, therefore exposure to liquidity and cash flow risk is minimal.

All risks and uncertainties are regularly monitored by the company’s board of directors.

On behalf of the board

7iili o

‘Dir‘ector
K Alderton .

Date: 27th June 2023 - .



C , WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022.
GOING CONCERN

The company is profitable and had net current assets at the period end and have prepared forecasts that suggest that
they will continue to meet their liabilities as they fall due for 12 months following the signing of these accounts.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the Directors consider to be appropriate
for the following reasons. '

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial
statements which indicate that, taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the Company will have sufficient
funds through the Group Cash-pooling arrangements and repayment of outstanding balances from fellow subsidiaries
to meet its liabilities as they fall due for that period. The combination of growth in digital revenue and the continuing
cash pooling arrangement with WMG Acquisition UK mean that, the Directors are confident that the Company will
have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval
of the financial statements and therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

- No change in the company’s operations is envisaged in the foreseeable future.

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors during the year ended 30 September 2022 were as listed on page 1.

At no time during the period did any director have any interest in the shares or debentures of the company or any.other
group undertaking: The directors of the company have qualifying indemnities against losses or liabilities that are
incurred.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the period a total of £nil (2021- £nil) was paid to charitable institutions.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS ‘

The Company made no political donatic;ns nor incurred any political expenditure during the period.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit
information, being information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, of which the auditor is
unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the company’s auditor, each director has taken all the steps

that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

PROPOSED DIVIDENDS
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

EMISSIONS AND ENERGY CONSUMPTION

In accordance with disclosure requnrements for large compames under the Companies Act 2006, the table below
shows the Company’s greenhouse gas -emissions during the financial perlod

The methodology used to calculate our emissions is in line with UK Govemment Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting (’SECR’’) guidelines. The reporting and calculations are based on energy consumed in kWh, proportion
related to UK and measures taken to enhance energy efficiency.

Year ended 30 -

’

~ September 2022
) Tonnes of CO2 equivalent
Combustion of fuel and operation of facilities (Scopel) 18.15
Electricity, heat, steam and cooling (Scope 2) : 44.77

Other indirect emissions relating to electricity transmission and dlStl’lbuthI‘l losses, rail, taxi
and non-company cars (Scope 3) ’

Taxi ‘ _ 6.61
Rail - 0.10
Non-company cars : ' 0.29
Total | S 69.92
tCO2e per employee 1.04

" Auditor

During the year, pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company appointed KPMG Chartered
Accountants as statutory auditors and pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed
re-appointed and KPMG will therefore continue in office. :

On behalf of the board
Director :
K Alderton - ¢ ‘ . -

Date: 27" June 2023

Registered office:
Cannon Place

78 Cannon Street
London

EC4N 6AF



WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT
THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to preparé financial statements for each financial period. Under that law they have
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the
UK and Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
.true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In
preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
-+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any materlal departures "
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e  assess the Company’s ability to continue as a gomg concern, dlsclosmg, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and .

e use the going concern basis of accounting unless they elther mtend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsnb]e for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

On behalf of the Board

ySoiiiom

Director
K Alderton

Date: 27% June 2023
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KPMG

Audit

1 Stokes Place

St. Stephen's Green
Dublin 2

D02 DEO3

Ireland

‘Independent auditor’s report to the members of Warner Chappell Music Limited

- Report on the audit-of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Warner Chappell Music Limited (‘the company’) for the year ended 30
September 2022 set out on pages 11 to 26, which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the
statement of changes in equity and related notes, including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in
note 1. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is UK Law and FRS 102 The
Financial-Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland

In our opinion:
e the financial statements glve a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 30 September
2022 and of its profit for the year then ended,;
e the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, and ' '
s the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council
(FRC)'s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these

" requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the Company’s financial position means that
this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant
doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial
statements (“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors' conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Company’s business model and
analysed how those risks might affect the Company's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the
going concern period. In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the ﬁnanaal statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subseduent events may result in outcomes that
- are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a
material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the Company will continue in operation.

Detecting irregularities including fraud

We identified the areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements and risks of material misstatement due to fraud, using our understanding of the entity's industry,
regulatory environment and other external factors and inquiry with the directors. In addition, our risk assessment
procedures included: inquiring with the directors as to the Company’s policies and procedures regarding compliance *
with faws and regulations and prevention and detection of fraud; inquiring whether the directors have knowledge of
any actual or suspected non-compliance with laws or regulations or alleged fraud; inspecting the Company’s
regulatory and legal correspondence; and reading Board minutes. .

8

KPMG, an Irish partnership and 3 member firm of the KPMG global ,
organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Warner Chappell Music Limited
(continued) :

Report on the audit of the‘ financial statements (continued)

Detecting irregularities including fraud (continued)

We discussed identified laws and regulations, fraud risk factors and the need to remain alert among the audit
team.

!
The Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including companies ’
and financial reporting legisiation. We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part
of our procedures on the related financial statement items, including assessing the financial statement
disclosures and agreeing them to supporting documentation when necessary.

We assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an
opportunity to commit fraud. As required by auditing standards, we performed procedures to address the risk of
management override of controls. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue
recognition. We did not identify any additional fraud risks

In response to risk of fraud, we also performed procedures including: identifying journal entries to test based on
risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation; evaluating the business purpose of
significant unusual transactions; assessing significant accounting estimates for blas and assessing the
disclosures in the financial statements.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations (irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely
the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remains a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. We are not
responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and
regulations.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annua!l Report together with the financial
statements. The other information comprises the information included in the strategic report and the directors’
report. The financial statements and our auditor's report thereon do not comprise part of the other information.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express
an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

- Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements
or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in the other
information. ’

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

Based solely on our work on the other information undertaken during the course of the audit:

we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

« in our opinion, the information given in the strategic report and durectors report is consistent with the
financial statements;

e in our opinion, the strategic report and directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Warner Chappell Music
Limited (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we ére required to report to you if, in our 6pinion

» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us;-or

e the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

We have nothing to report in these respects.
- Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibitities statement set out on page 7, the directors are responsible
for: the preparation of the financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern; disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so. .

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud, other irregularities or error, and to issue an opinion in an
auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
"Misstatements can arise from fraud, other irregularities or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is prowded on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Y7

‘Maurice McCann (Senior Statutory Auditor) . 28" June 2023
for and on behalf of ’
KPMG Statutory Auditor
1 Stokes Place, St. Stephen’s Green.
Dublin 2
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 September 2022

Notes Year ended Year ended

30 September 25 September
' . 2022 2021
Ng ; £ . £
/ . .
TURNOVER .2 . 137,137,397 106,489,871
Cost of sales - (113,347,454) (90,159,663)
Gross profit _ . 23,789,943 . 16,330,208
Administrative expenses - 503,234 (13,160,285)
OPERATING PROFIT o "3 4 24,293,177 3,169,923
Investment income ' ‘ Co- 41,297
Intetest receivable . 6 1,457,203 - 1,216,167
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION . . 25,750,380 4,427,387
Tax on profit ' "7 (5,234,074) 1 (993,696)
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION - 20,5 16,306 3,433,691 "

There is no other comprehensive income in the current and preceding financial periods other than the retained profit
shown above. .

The notes on pages 14 to 26 form part of these financial statements

11



WARNER CHAPPELL MUélC LIMITED -

. BALANCE SHEET AT 30 September 2022

Notes 30 September 25 September
. 2022 2021
£ £
FIXED ASSETS _ ,
Intangible assets i 8 182,916,830 848,084
Tangible assets . 9 104,186 - 168,042
Investments 10 : 16,537,763 16,537,763 -
Recoverable amount from group undertaking 13 8,412,872 7,277,464
1 207,971,651 24,831,353
CURRENT ASSETS .
" Debtors , 11 179,164,650 136,083,766
Cash 284,211 302,735
179,448,861 136,386,501
CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 12 (13_(),580,697) (114,571,653)
NET CURRENT ASSETS . ' ‘ 48,868,164 21,814,848
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ' 256,839,815 " 46,646,201
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 13 (8,412,870) (7,277,464)
NET ASSETS ' 248,426,945 39,368,737 .
CAPITAL AND RESERVES _ ,
Called up share capital ' 17 - 410 100
Share Premium 188,541,592 -
' Pro_ﬁt and loss account 59,884,943 39,368,637
EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 248,426,945 39,368,737

The financial statements of Warner Chappell Music Limited (registered company number 488466) were approved
and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf by:

yiziiion

K ALDERTON
Director,

Date: 27" June 2023

The notes on pages 14 to 26 form part of these financial statements
12



Balance at 25 September 2020.

Profit fbr the financial period
At 24 September 2021
. Share Capital

. Share Premium A

Profit for the financial period

At 30 September 2022

WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 September 2022

Called uf Share Premium

_ Profit .
share and loss Total
capital account Equity
£ £ £ £
100 - 35,934,946 35,935,046
- - 3,433,691 3,433,691
100 - 39,368,637 39,368,737
310 - - 310
- 188,541,592 - 188,541,592
- - 20,516,306 20,516,306
410 188,541,592 59,884,943 248,426,945

The notes on pages 14 to 26 form part of these financial statements.

13



WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022

ACCOUNTING POLICIES , -

A summary of the principal accounting policies, all of which have been applied consnstently throughout the penod
is set out below: N
Basis of Preparation '

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. They were prepared in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (“FRS
102”). The presentation currency of these financial statements is sterling. The financial statements are made up for
the 53 week period beginning 25 September 2021 ending 30 September 2022. The comparative amounts are for.
the 52 week period ended 24 September 2021. ' :

The Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements under section 401 of
the Companies Act 2006 because the Company’s parent undertaking, Warner Music Group Corp., a company
incorporated in the USA, includes the Company in its consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements of Warner Music Group Corp. are available to the public and may be obtained from 1209 Orange Street,
Wilmington, DE 19801, USA. These statements are also submitted to Compames House following the signing of
the WCML financial statements. ,

In these financial statements, the company is considered to be a quahfymg entity (for the purposes of this FRS)
and has applied the exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect of the following disclosures:

. Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding from the beginning to end of the period;
. Cash Flow Statement and related notes; and
. Key Management Personnel compensation

As the consolidated financial statements of Warner Music Group Corp. include the disclosures equivalent to
those required by FRS 102, the Company has also taken the exemptions available in respect of the following
disclosure:
. Certain disclosures required by FRS 102.11 Basic Financial Instruments and FRS 102.12
Other Financial Instrument Issues in respect of financial instruments not falling within the fair
value accounting rules of Paragraph 36(4) of Schedule 1

. The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS 102 in its next
financial statements. - :
Going concern
The company is profitable and had net current assets at'the period end and have prepared forecasts that
suggest that they will continue to meet their liabilities as they fall due for 12 months following the signing
of these accounts. '
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis which the Dlrectors consider to be
appropriate for the following reasons.
The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these
financial statements which indicate that, taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the Company will
have sufficient funds through the Group Cash-pooling arrangements and repayment of outstanding balances
from fellow subsidiaries to meet its liabilities as they fall due for that period. The combination of growth in
digital revenue and the continuing cash pooling arrangement with WMG Acquisition UK Limited mean that,
the Directors are confident that the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. -

14



WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Royalty advances

Advances in respect of royalties payable, which are non-returnable, comprise advances to songwriters under
contract. Specific provisions are made against these advances where the balance outstanding exceeds anticipated
future royalty earnings. )
Royalty income and expense

Credit is taken for royalty income that has been earned from users prior to the penod end. Royalty expense is
accrued based on the expected royalties payable on income earned.

Basic financial instruments

Trade and other debtors / creditors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at cost. They are assessed for any impairment on an annual basis.
Trade and other creditors are recognised at cost.

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are carried at cost less impairment. Income
from subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates is recognised in the company’s profit and loss account on the basis
of dividends received and receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. The Company is part of the Warner Music
Group cash pooling arrangement and therefore the majority of account balances are swept to zero overnight, with
a corresponding intercompany loan balance recorded with another Warner Music Group entity.

Tangible fixed assets :
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated deprematlon and accumulated 1mpa1rment losses.

The company provides depreciation at rates which are calculated to write off the cost of the tangible fixed assets
by equal annual instalments over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Furniture and equipment - various rates between -10% and 33%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change
since last annual reporting date in-the pattern by which the company expects to consume an asset’s future economic
benefits. ) '

Intangible fixed assets: music copyrights

Purchased music copyrights are capitalised and amortised by equal annual instalments over the period that is
expected to recover the initial cost based on projected average annual income, but not exceeding 25 years. The
annual charge for amortisation of intangibles is included within administrative expenses in the Profit and Loss
Account.

The carrying values of intangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full year following
acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable.

Impairment excluding deferred tax assets :
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. An impairment
" loss is reversed if and only if the reasons for the impairment have ceased to apply.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

.Prowslons

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive obhgatlon as
a result of a past event, that can be reliably measured, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are recognised at the best estimate of the amount required to settle
the obligation at the reporting date.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax i is recogmsed in the profit and loss
account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in
which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax pa);able or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
periods.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax
assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the financial statements.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the reversal of the related difference, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax balances are not discounted.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that is it probable that they
will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are reported at the approxnmate rates of exchange ruling at the date on which
they took place. Assets.and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the period-end exchange rate. All
differences are taken to administrative expenses within the profit and loss account.

Leasing commitments
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans and other long term employee benefits

The company is a member of the Warner Music Retirement Saver Group Personal Pension Plan, which is a defmed
contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the company pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the profit and
loss account in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed, without realistic
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement
date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination
benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the company has made an offer of voluntary
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will bc accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.
If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they are discounted to their present value.

Turnover recognition
Turnover represents copyright royalties receivable and music publishing admlmstratlon fees excluding value added
tax. Copyright royalties are recognised at the point at which the relevant copyright is exploited. Advances in respect

" of future revenues are treated as deferred revenue and recognised as revenue when earned.

Critical accounting judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. This is
particularly true of the change in accounting estimate regarding revenue recognition where estimates of when
revenue is earned, and amounts are accrued. The £41,486,162 (2021: £21,901,970) income accrual actuals is
however subject to a low degree of uncertainty as at the period-end due to most of the accruals being adjusted in
accordance with subsequent cash received. .
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED_(F ORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

. TURNOVER

Turnover represents royalties received and is attributable to one continuing activity - music publishing. The

geographical areas to which turnover relates are as follows: .
: Year ended Year ended
30 September - 25 September
2022 2021
. £ £
United Kingdom 99,592,232 75,840,167

Rest of the world ’ . 37,545,165 30,649,704

137,137,397 106,489,871

OPERATING PROFIT
- ‘ Year ended Year ended
30 September 25 September
2022 2021
) £ £
This is stated after charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration . : 119,557 42,762
Depreciation 69,809 95,470
Amortisation of copyrights - . ' 5,809,893 346,480
Loss/(Gain) on foreign exchange (16,976,004) 3,812,680
Severance "~ 116,843 99,523

Amounts receivable by the Company’s auditor and its associates in respect of services to the Company and its
associates, other than the audit of the Company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the information
is required instead to be disclosed in the financial statements of the Company s immediate parent undertaking,
WMG Acquisition (UK) Limited.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION .

Year ended Year ended

. 30 September 2S5 September
2022 2021
: £ } £
Directors’ remuneration 1,263,150 1,133,009
Contributions to defined contribution plans 18,750 24,020
1,281,900 1,157,029

The remuneration of the highest paid director was £828,275 (2021: £578 597) and company pension contributions
of £4,000 (2021: £3,000) were paid to a defined contribution scheme on hlS behalf.

‘Number of directors exercising share options during the period was nil (2021 —nil).

The directors of the company are also directors of a number of subsidiaries of the ultimate parent undertaking. The
cost is recognised in the accounts of Warner Chappell Music Limited which make the remuneration payments.
However, the directors believe that it is possible to apportion the remuneration between their remuneration as
directors of the company and their remuneration as directors of the fellow subsidiary companies. The relevant
portion of the directors’ remuneration is therefore disclosed in the notes to the financial statements of the
subsidiaries based on qualifying services provided to each subsidiary.

17



WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

STAFF COSTS .
"Year ended Year ended

30 September 25 September
- ’ 2022 2021
. : £ £

Wages and salaries 5,598,982 5,261,003 '/
Severance 116,843 99,523
Social security costs 764,017 679,383
Contributions to defined contribution plans . 212,891 210,653
6,692,733 6,250,562

\

The average number of employees employed by the Company (including directors) during the period, analysed

by category, was made up as follows:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 25 September
2022 2021
Commercial and administrative _ L 67 66
INTEREST RECEIVABLE
Year ended Year ended
30 September 25 September
. 2022 2021
£ £
Interest receivable from group company 1,457,203 1,216,167
1,457,203 1,216,167
TAXATION
a. Total tax expense recognised in the profit and loss account
" Year ended Year ended
30 September 25 September
2022, 2021
£ £
Current tax .
UK corporation tax on income for the period 4,903,625 870,642
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 1,457 (91,650)
Overseas taxation suffered 618,797 481,138
'Double taxation relief (281,062) (212,859)
Total Current Tax Charge . 5,242,817 1,047,271
Deferred tax : : , ’
Origination and reversal of timing differences (2,136) (29,542)
Effect of changes in tax rate (7,055) > (24,033)
- (over)/Under provision for prior years - 448 -
. Total deferred tax (8,743) (53,575)
Total tax charged on Profit on Ordinary Activities 5,234,074 993,696
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)
% TAXATION
The full tax charge for the period is recognised in the Profit and Loss account.

b. Reconciliation of tax charge

The standard rate of current tax for the perfod based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax is 19%
(2021: 19%). The charge for the period can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 25 September

2022 2021

£ £

Profit on Ordinéry activities before tax o 25,750,380 4,427,385

Profit multiplied by standard rate of UK tax: 19% (2021: 19%) 4,892,572 841,203

" Factors affecting charge: o :

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes : 8,917 10,167
~Income not taxable : - . (7,846)
Effect of tax rate change on deferred tax balances (7,055) (24,033)

Effect of tax rates in for\eign jurisdictions : 337,735 265,855

Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous periods . - 1,905 (91,650) - .

Total tax expénse included in profit and loss 5,234,074 993,696

. ¢. Tax rate changes

An increase in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted
on 24 May2021. This will also have a consequential impact of the company's future tax charge.

8. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS .

Copyrights
. £
Cost:
At25 September 2021 . C ‘ - 9,415,416
Additions. - - 187,878,639
Disposals % : -
At 30 September 2022 ' ) " 197,294,055
Amortisation: .
At 25 September 2021 8,567,332
Charged during the period . 5,809,893
Disposals ' ‘ -
At 30 September 2022 ' - } 14,377,225
Net book values: :
At 30 September 2022 o ’ 182,916,830
At 25 September 2021 ' I 848,084
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

8. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (continued)

_Intangible Asset additions in the year include the acquisition of the David Bowie catalogue, which was purchased for
. £250m on 17 December 2021. This equated to £187,628,639 (once qualifying acquisition costs had also been capitalised)
at the acquisition date. At the year ending 30 September 2022 accumulated amortisation of £5,628,859 has been booked
. against this asset, based on a Useful Economic Life of 25 years.

\
9. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Furniture
and
equipment
£
Cost: :
At 25 September 2021 : . 689,216
Additions . , 5,953
Disposals . -
At 30 September 2022 ' 695,169
Accumulated depreciation: - ‘ 3
At 25 September 2021 » 521,174
Charged during the period . ‘ : 69,809
Disposals . _ -
At 30 September 2022 590,983
Net book values: ' )
At 30 September 2022 104,186
At 25 September 2021 ' . 168,042
10. INVESTMENTS
Investment in  Investment
Subsidiary inJoint  Listed Total
Undertakings Venture  Investment
£ £ £ Y
Cost
At 25 September 2021 16,537,713 50 - - 16,537,763
Impairments - . -
Carrying amount . .
At 30 September 2022 16,537,713 50 N 16,537,763

Details of the investments in which the group and the company held more than 20% of any class of share capital as at
30 September 2022 were as follows: . :
. 20
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

10. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Name of Company

‘Bubbles Music Limited

Dizzy Heights Music
Publishing Limited
FFRR Music Limited

Glissando Music Limited

Kirshner Warner Bros.
Music Limited
Magnet Music Limited

The National Video
Corporation Limited
Chappell Morris Limited

Warner Chappell MLM
Limited

Warner Chappell Music
International Limited
Warner Chappell TM
Limited

Warner Chappell UK
Limited

Asherberg Hopwood &
Crew Limited*
Burlington Music Company
Limited*

Chappell Music Limited*

Diplomat Music Limited*
Intersong Music Lirﬁited*

Jewel Music Publishing
Company Limited*
Throat Music Limited*

Warner Chappell Artemis
Music Limited*
Warner Chappell Limited*

Warner Chappell North
America Limited*

Warner Chappell Overseas
Holdings Limited*
Patricia Music Limited*

CRML Limited**

Country of
incorporation

England and
Wales

. England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and

Wales

England and

Wales

'England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
Ehgland and
Wales

" England and
. Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales

England and
Wales

Holding

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinafy shares

Ordinary shares

-Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordina_ry shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares "

drdinary shares

" Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Ordinary sharés

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

21

Proportion
of voting
rights and
shares held
directly and
indirectly
- 100%
100%
100%
100%
50%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100% -

100%
50%
100%
50%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

50%

100%

t

Nature of business

Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing ‘
Record company
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
'Music Publishing
Music Pubiishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing
Music Publishing

Music Publishing

Music Publishing



WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT430 September 2022 (continued)

10. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Destiny Music Limited** England and  Ordinary shares
' ' Wales

CPM Music Limited* England and  Ordinary shares
Wales

Palace Music Co Limited* England and  Ordinary shares
Wales .

Warner Chappell England and  Ordinary shares ~

Production Music Limited Wales '

Warner Chappell Music England and  Ordinary shares

Publishing Limited Wales - .

* Held by a subsidiary undertaking
** 19% held by this entity, remainder held by a subsidiary undertaking

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

Mugic Publishing
Music Publishing
Music publishing
Music put;lishing

Music publishing

Registered office for all entities with the exception of Jewel Music Publzshmg Company Ltd: Cannon Place, 78

Cannon Street London, EC4N 6AF

Regzstered office for Jewel Music Publishing Company Ltd: Dodd Harris Suite C, Kiln House 15-17 High Street,

Elstree, Hertfordshire, WD6 3BY

11. DEBTORS

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Deferred tax (note 14)

Prepayments

Accrued income

Royalty advances (1)

25 September 2021

30 September 2022
£ £
9,005,341 16,572,841
99217450 83,694,516
135,398 126,655
42,016 49,426
41,486,162 21,901,970
290278283 13,738,358
179,164,650 136,083,766

(1) Included within Royalty advances is £0 falling due after one year (2021: £55,023)

12. CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts due to subsidiary undertaking
" Amounts due to group undertakings

Group relief payable '

Corporation tax payable

Other taxes and social security costs

Other creditors (VAT)

Other creditors

Royalty creditor on accrued income

Accruals

Deferred income

22

30 September 2022 . 25 September 2021

£ £
70,188,205 78,458,552
25,400 25,400
11,096,487 10,370,859
453,313 1,516,145
4,826,642 378,689
217,043 208,996
2,417,464 616,685
979,641 685,779
32,500,521 17,845,499
1,851,838 1,802,989
6,024,143 2,662,060
130,580,697 114,571,653




WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

13. PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Dilapidation Total

: , . Provisions Provisions

' : , £ £

At 25 September 2021 ' » 7,277,464 7,277,464
Provided during the period ’ 1,135,406 1,135,406
At 30 September 2022 h 8,412,870 8,412,870

The dilapidation provisions are based on an mdependent surveyor estimate in 201 5 of the potential dllapldatlon
expensé on termination of the property lease of properties held under lease by this company but occupied by
other group companies. These provisions are expected to be utilised within 10 years.

Recoverable amount : ‘

Since the occupying group company will refund the costs of such dilapidation as it needs to be paid, as they
also bear the ongoing costs of the relevant properties, an equal amount of £7,277,464 has also been recognised
as a recoverable amount within fixed assets. :

14. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND (LIABILITES)

£
At 25 September 2021 : 126,655 .
(Charged)/credited to the profit and loss for the period 8,743
At 30 September 2022 : 135,398

~Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are attributable to the following:

30 September 2022 25 September 2021

£ £

Difference between accumulated depreciation and capital allowances 69,629 74,040
Other timing differences . 65,769 52,615
135,398 126,655

There are no unused tax losses or unused tax credits.

15.  CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The company is contracted to pay advances to songwriters in the normal course of business. At 30 September
2022, there are future.committed advances due of £15,034,990 (2021: £6,174,352). There are other future
contractually committed ‘advances, but the payment of these advances is dependent upon the fulfilment of
certain contract requirements. Accordingly, it is not practicable to quantify the future commltments that may
crystalllse Apart from advances, there are no other capital commitments.
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‘WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT.30 September 2022 (continued)

10. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Destiny Music Limited** ' England and  Ordinary shares
' ‘ Wales
CPM Music Limited* England and  Ordinary shares
Wales
Palace Music Co Limited* England and  Ordinary shares
‘ Wales
Warner Chappell England and  Ordinary shares ~
Production Music Limited Wales ‘
Warner Chappell Music England and  Ordinary shares
Publishing Limited Wales -

* Held by a subsidiary undertaking
** 1% held by this entity, remainder held by a subsidiary undertaking

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

Mugic Publishing
Music Publishing
Music publishing
Music pul;lishing

Music publishing

Registered office for all entities with the exception of Jewel Music Publishing Company Ltd: Cannon Place, 78

Cannon Street, London, EC4N 6AF

Registered office for Jewel Music Publishing Company Ltd: Dodd Harris Suite C, Kiln House 15-17 High Street,

Elstree, Hertfordshire, WD6 3BY

11. DEBTORS

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Deferred tax (note 14)

Prepayments

Accrued income

Royalty advances (1)

25 September 2021

30 September 2022
£ £
9,005,341 16,572,841
99,217,450 83,694,516
135,398 126,655
42,016 49,426
41,486,162 21,901,970
29,278,283 13,738,358
179,164,650 136,083,766

(1) Included within Royalty advances is £0 falling due after one year (2021: £55,023)

12. CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts due to subsidiary undertaking
" Amounts due to group undertakings

Group relief payable

Corporation tax payable

Other taxes and social security costs

Other creditors (VAT)

Other creditors

Royalty creditor on accrued income

Accruals

Deferred income

22

30 September 2022 . 25 September 2021
£ £
70,188,205 78,458,552
25,400 25,400
11,096,487 10,370,859
453,313 1,516,145
4,826,642 378,689
217,043 208,996
2,417,464 616,685
979,641 685,779
32,500,521 17,845,499
1,851,838 1,802,989
6,024,143 2,662,060
130,580,697 114,571,653




WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

13. PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Dilapidation " Total

Provisions Provisions

£ £

At 25 September 2021 ' 7,277,464 7,277,464
Provided during the period ’ 1,135,406 1,135,406
At 30 Septembef 2022 N 8,412,870 8,412,870

The dilapidation provisions are based on an indepén‘dent surveyor estimate in 2015 of the potential dilapidation
expensé on termination of the property lease of properties held under lease by this company but occupied by
other group companies. These provisions are expected to be utilised within 10 years.

Recoverable amount 5 ‘

Since the occupying group company will refund the costs of such dilapidation as it needs to be paid, as they
also bear the ongoing costs of the relevant properties, an equal amount of £7,277,464 has also been recognised
as a recoverable amount within fixed assets. :

14. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND (LlABlLlTES)

£
At 25 September 2021 126,655
(Charged)/credited to the profit and loss for the period 8,743
At 30 September 2022 ’ 135,398

~Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are attributable to the following:

30 September 2022 25 September 2021

£ £

Difference between accumulated depreciation and capital allowances 69,629 74,040
Other timing differences . 65,769 52,615
135,398 126,655

There are no unused tax losses or unused tax credits.

15. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The company is contracted to pay advances to songwriters in the normal course of business. At 30 September
2022, there are future. committed advances due of £15,034,990 (2021: £6,174,352). There are other future
contractually committed advances, but the payment of these advances is dependent upon the fulfilment of
certain contract requirements. Accordingly, it is not practicable to quantify the future commitments that may
crystallise. Apart from advances, there are no other capital commitments. ’
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‘ WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

16.

17.

18.

19,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (contmued)

'
s

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At 30 September 2022 the company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operatmg leases as set

out below:
Land and buildings

30 September 2022 25 September 2021

’

£ £
Leases in the name of the company
Operating leases payable within: . :
the following year 5,117,250 5,117,250
second to fifth years mcluswe . . .+ 11,550,979 16,668,229
over five years , : . - © 3,376,438

During the period £927,736 (2021: £845,539) was directly recognised as an expense in the profit and loss
account in respect of operating leases for properties occupied and used by the Company. The remaining -
leases are contracts entered into on behalf of a variety of group operations in respect of buildings occupied by
their operations. The remainder of the operating lease costs are recorded by another group entity and
recharged accordingly.

SHARE CAPITAL . ,
Allotted, called up
and fully paid
30 September 2022 25 September 2021
N £ ' £
410 ordinary shares of £1 each 410 100

During the period £188,541,592 was added to Share Premium and £310 to Share Capital as part of the David
Bowie catalogue Acquisition.

PENSIONS

The Warner Music Retirement Saver Group Personal Pension Plan is a defined contribution plan.

. The total pensions cost to the company for the 52 week penod ended 30 September 2022 was £212,891 (2021:

£210,653).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Kirshner-Warner Bros Music Limited '

During the period, the company did not receive a dividend (2021: £nil) from its 50% owned joint venture,
Kirshner-Warner Bros Music Limited. At 30 September 2022, the company owed Kirshner-Warner Bros Music
Limited £132,454 (2021: £117,434).

During the period, the company. also received income of £2,500 (2021: £2,500) for royaity administration and
other accounting functions performed, and income of £0 (2021: £0) as a contribution to auditors’ fees.
Diplomat Music Limited -

At 30 September 2022, the company owed Dlplomat Music lelted £23,798 (2021: £23,798).

During the period, the company received income of £0 (2021: £0) as a contribution to auditors fees.
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

’

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)”

Jewel Music Publishing Company Limited

During the period, the company received a dividend of £39,000 (2021: £85 000) from its 50% owned joint
venture, Jewel Music Publishing Company Limited. This is received on behalf of its fellow group company,
Warner Chappell Music International Limited. The company has no entitlement to recognise the dividend in
their financial statements; instead it is recognised in the financial statements of Warner Chappell Music
International Limited. At 30 September 2022, the company had no outstandmg balance with (2021: £nil) Jewel -
Music Publlshmg Company Limited.

Patricia Musnc Limited
At 30 September 2022, the company owed Patricia Music Limited £4,948 (2021: £3,222).

During the period, the company received income of £742 (2021: '£787) for royalty administration and other
accounting functions performed.

Al Wrights Holdings Limited

The Company leases a property from Al anhts Holdings Limited which is an affiliate of the ultimate
parent. This property is one of those recharged through another group entlty (see note 17). The commitments

under this lease included in note 17 are:
30 September 2022 25 September 2021

£ £
Leases in the name of the company : -
Operating leases payable within:
the following year ) 3,494,250 3,494,250
second to fifth years inclusive 7,862,063 11,356,313

over five years

Unigram and Amanda Ghost

. The Company has three publishing arrangements with Unigram and Amanda Ghost, in the form of two Joint

Venture agreements and one Administrative agreement. Unigram is part owned (67%) by Access Industries
therefore requires disclosure as a Related Party Transaction. During the period the company has paid £0 in
advances (2021:'£126,531). Income received for the ending 30 September 2022 was £8,217 (2021: £15,302).

Deezer License Agreement

The Company has a license with an entity which is an affiliate of the ultimate parent, for the use of repertoire
throughout Europe. For the 52 week period ended 30 September 2022, revenue generated by this license was
£1,635,000 (2021: £1,275,000).

Wholly Owned Group Undertakmgs ‘
The company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 not to disclose details of transactions betweeri
wholly-owned group undertakings. .

PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

WMG Acquisition (UK) Ltd, Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London, England, ECAN 6AF, is the company’s
immediate parent undertaking.

At 30 September 2022, Al Entertainment Holdings LLC, 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington,
DE 19808, was the ultimate parent undertaking. Warner Music Group Corp., an entity incorporated in the
USA, was the parent undertaking of the smallest group of undertakings of which the company was a
member and for which group financial statements are drawn up. Copies of Warner Music Group Corp.’s
financial statements can be obtained from 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801, USA.
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WARNER CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED (FORMERLY WARNER/CHAPPELL MUSIC LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 30 September 2022 (continued)

21. - POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

There has been no material event since the balance sheet date requiring adjustment or disclosure in the
financial statements. ’
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
. ’ o !

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) includes forward-looking statements and cautionary statements within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™). Some of the forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-
looking terms such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “shall,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “seeks,” “aims,” “projects,” “is optimistic,” “intends,”
“plans,” “estimates,” “anticipates™ or other comparable terms or the negative thereof. Forward- looking statements include, without limitation, all matters
that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this Annual Report and include, without limitation, our ability to compete in the
highly competitive markets in which we operate, statements regarding our ability to develop talent and attract future talent, our ability to reduce future
capital expenditures, our ability to monetize our music, including through new distribution channels and formats to capitalize on the growth areas of the
music entertainment industry, our ability to effectively deploy our capital, the development of digital music and the effect of digital distribution channels on
our business, including whether we will be able to achieve higher margins from digital sales, the success of strategic actions we are taking to accelerate our
transformation as we redefine our role in the music entertainment industry, the effectiveness of our ongoing efforts to reduce-overhead expenditures and
manage our variable and fixed cost structure and our ability to generate expected cost savings from such efforts, our success in limiting piracy, the growth
of the music entertainment industry and the effect of our and the industry’s efforts'to combat piracy on the industry, our intention and ability to pay
dividends or repurchase or retire our outstanding debt or notes in open market purchases, privately or otherwise, the impact on us of potential strategic
transactions, our ability to fund our future capital needs and the effect of litigation on us.

< e

Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties, many of which may be beyond our control. We caution
you that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or outcomes and that actual performance and outcomes, including, without
limitation, our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the market in which we operate, may differ materially
from those made in or suggested by the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report. In addition, even if our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows, and the development of the market in which we operate, are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this
Annual Report, those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods. New factors emerge from time to
time that may cause our business not to develop as we expect, and it is not possible for us fo accurately predict all of them. Factors that could cause actual
results and outcomes to differ from those reflected in forward-looking statements include, without limitation:

. "our inability to compete successfully in the highly competitive markets in which we operate;

. our ability to identify, sign and retain recording artists and songwriters and the existence or absence of superstar releases;

. slower growth in streaming adoption and revenue;

. our dependence on a limited number of digital music services for the online distribution and marketing of our music and their ability to
significantly influence the pricing structure for online music stores; :

. the ability to further develop a-successful business model applicable to a digital environment and to enter into artist services and
expanded-rights deals with recording artists in order to broaden our revenue streams in growing segments of the music entertainment
business;

J the popular demand for particular recording artists and/or songwriters and music and the timely delivery to us of music by major
recording artists and/or songwriters;

. risks related to the effects of natural or man-made disasters, including pandemics such as COVID-19;

. the diversity and quality of our recording artists, songwriters and releases;

. " trends, developments or other events in some foreign countries in which we operate;

. risks associated with our non-U.S. operations, including limited legal protections of our intellectual property rights and restrictions on the
repatriation of capital;

. unfavorable currency exchange rate fluctuations;

. the impact of heightened and intensive competition in the recorded music and music publishing mdustnes and our inability to execute our
business strategy;

. significant fluctuations in our operations, cash flows and the trading price of our common stock from.period to period;

. our failure to attract and retain our executive officers and other key personnel; '




a éigniﬁcant portion of our revenues are subject to rate regulation either by government entities or by local third-party collecting societies
throughout the world and rates on other income streams may be set by governmental proceedings, which may limit our profitability;

risks associated with obtalmng, mamtammg, protectmg and enforcing our intellectual property rights;
our involvement in mtellectual property litigation;

threats to our business associated with digital piracy, including organized industrial pifacy;

an impairment in the carrying value of goodwill or other intangible and long-lived assets;

the impact of, and risks inherent in, acquisitions or other bp;iness combinations;

risks inherent to our outsourcing certain ﬁnaﬁce and accounting functions;

the fact that we have engaged in substantial restructuring activities in the past, and may need to implement further restructurings in the
future and our restructuring efforts may not be successful or generate expected cost savings;

our ability to maintain the security of information relating to our customers, employees and vendors and our music;

risks related to evolving laws and regulations concemmg data privacy which might result in increased regulation and different industry
standards; .

legislation limiting the terms by which an individual can be bound under a “personal services™ contract;
new legislation that affects the terms of our contracts with recording artists and songwriters;

a potential loss of catalog if it is determined that recording artists have a right to recapture U.S. nghts in their recordings under the U.S.
Copyright Act; .

any delays and difﬁcultiés in satisfying obligations incident to being a public company;

the impact of our substantial leverage on our ability to raise additional capital to fund our operations, on our ability to react to changes in
the economy or our industry and on our ability to meet our obligations under our indebtedness; .

the ability to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, and the risk that we may be forced to take other actions to satisfy
our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful;

the fact that our debt agreements contain restrictions that may limit our flexibility in operating our business;

the significant amount of cash required to service our indebtedness and the ability to generate cash or refinance indebtedness as it
becomes due depends on many factors, some of which are beyond our control; '

our indebtedness levels, and the fact that we may be able to incur substannally more indebtedness, which may increase the risks created
by our substantial indebtedness; .

risks of downgrade, suspension or withdrawal of the rating assigned by a rating agency to us could impact our cost of capital;

the dual class structure of our common stock and Access’s existing ownership of our Class B Common Stock have the effect of
concentrating control over our management and affairs and over matters requiring stockholder approval with Access; and

risks related to other factors discussed under Item 1A. Risk Factors herein.

You should read this Annual Report completely and with the understanding that actual future results may be materially different from
expectations. All forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report are qualified by these cautionary statements. Any forward-looking statement
speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we do not undertake any obligation, other than as may be required by law, to update or revise any
forward-looking or cautionary statements to reflect changes in assumptions, the occurrence of events, unanticipated or otherwise, and changes in future
operating results over time or otherwise. Comparisons of resuits for current and any prior periods are not intended to express any future trends or
indications of future performance, unless expressed as such, and should only be viewed as historical data.

Other risks, uncertainties and factors, including those discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors herein, could cause our actual results to differ materially
from those projected in any forward-looking statements we make. You should read carefully the factors described in Item 1A to better understand the risks
and uncertainties inherent in our business and underlying any forward-looking statements.




SUMMARY RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to a number of risks, including risks that may prevent us from achieving our business objectives or adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. These nsks are discussed more fully in Item 1A. Risk Factors herein. These
risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

our ability to identify, sign and retain recording artists and songwriters and the existence or absence of superstar releases;

thee ability to further develop a successful business model applicable to a digital environment and to enter into artist services and
expanded-rights deals with recording artists in order to broaden our revenue streams in growing segments of the music entertainment
business;

our revenues are subject to rate regulaﬁon, or set, by governmental entities or local third-party collecting societies which may limit
profitability;

the popular demand for particular recording artists or songwriters and music and the timely delivery to us of music by major recording
artists or songwriters;

our results of operations, cash.flows and financial condition are expected to be adversely impacted by the coronavirus pandemic;
the diversity and quality of our recording artists, songwriters and releases;
slower growth in streaming adoption and revenue;

our dependence on a limited number of digital music services for the online distribution and marketing of our music and their ability to
significantly influence the pricing structure for online music stores;

risks associated with our non-U.S. operations, including limited legal protections of our intellectual property rights and restrictions on the
repatriation of capital;

the impact of heightened and intensive competition in the recorded music and musrc publishing industries and our inability to execute our
business strategy,

our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights;

threats to our business associated with digital piracy, including organized industrial piracy, and cyber security;

a potential loss of catalog if it is determined that recording artists have a right to recapture U.S. rights in their recordings under the U.S.
Copyright Act;

our substantial leverage;_and

holders of our Class A Common Stock have limited or no ability to influence corporate matters due to the dual class structure of our
common stock and the existing ownership of Class B Common Stock by Access, which has the effect of concentrating voting control
with Access for the foreseeable future.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Introduction

Warner Music Group Corp. (the “Company”’) was formed on November 21, 2003. We are the direct parent of WMG Holdings Corp. (“Holdings™),
which is the direct parent of WMG Acquisition Corp. (“Acquisition Corp.”). Acquisition Corp. is one of the world’s major music entertdinment companies.

The Company and Holdings are holding companies that conduct substantially all of their business operations through their subsidiaries. The terms
“we,” “us,” “our,” “ours” and the “Company” refer collectively to Warner Music Group Corp. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context refers
only to Warner Music Group Corp. as a corporate entity. - !

 Acquisition of Warner Music Group by Access Industries

Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 6, 2011 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, Al '
Entertainment Holdings LLC (formerly Airplanes Music LLC), a2 Delaware limited liability company (“Parent”) and an affiliate of Access Industries, Inc.,
and Airplanes Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), on July 20, 2011 (the “Merger Closing
Date’), Merger Sub merged w1th and into the Company with the Company surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (the “Merger”). In connection
with the Merger, the Company delisted its common stock from the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”).

Initial Public Offering

On June 5, 2020, the Company went public again and completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of Class A common stock of the Company, par
value $0.001 per share (“Class A Common Stock™). The Company listed its shares on the NASDAQ stock market under the ticker symbol “WMG.” The
offering consisted entirely of secondaJy shares sold by Access Industries, LLC (collectively with its affiliates, “Access”) and certain related selling
stockholders.

Following the completion of the IPO, Access and its affiliates continue to hold all of the Class B common stock of the Company, par value $0.001
per share (“Class B Common Stock”), representing approximately 98% of the total combined voting power of the Company’s outstanding common stock
and approximately 73% of the economic interest. As a result, the Company is a “conttolled company” within the meaning of the corporate governance
standards of NASDAQ. See Itemn 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Controlling Stockholder.

Our Company

We are one of the world’s leading music entertainment companies. Our renowned family of iconic record labels, including Atlantic Records,
Warner Records, Elektra Records and Parlophone Records, is home to many of the world’s most popular and influential recording artists. In addition,
Warner Chappell Music, our global music publishing business, boasts an extraordinary catalog that includes timeless standards and contemporary hits,
representing works by over 100,000 songwriters and composers, with a global collection of more than one million musical compositions. Our
entrepreneurial spirit and passion for music has driven our recording artist and songwriter focused innovation for decades.

Our Recorded Music business, home to superstar recording artists such as Ed Sheeran, Bruno Mars, Cardi B and Dua Lipa, generated $4.966
billion of revenue in fiscal 2022, representing 84% of total revenues. Our Music Publishing business, which includes esteemed songwriters such as Twenty
One Pilots, Lizzo and Katy Perry, generated $958 million of revenue in fiscal 2022; representing 16% of total revenues. We benefit from the scale of our
global platform and our local focus. .

Today, global music entertainment companies such as ours are more important and relevant than ever. The traditional barriers to widespread
distribution of music have been erased. The tools to make and distribute music are at every musician’s fingertips, and today’s technology makes it possible
for music to travel around the world in an instant. This has resulted in music being ubiquitous and accessible at all times. Against this industry backdrop,
the volume of music being released on digital platforms is making it harder for recording artists and songwriters to get noticed. We cut through the noise by.
identifying, signing, developing and marketing extraordinary talent. Qur global artists and repertoire (“A&R”) experience and marketing strategies are
critical ingredients for recording artists or songwritérs who want to build long-term global careers. We believe that the music, not the technology, delights
fans and drives the business forward.

Our commercial innovation is crucial to maintaining our momentum. We have championed new business models and empowered estabhshed
players, while protecting and enhancing the value of music. We were the first major music entertainment -




company to strike landmark deals with important companies such as Apple, YouTube and Tencent Music Entertainment Group, as well as with pure-play
music technology companies such as MixCloud, SoundCloud and Audiomack. We adapted to streaming faster than other major music entertainment
companies and,.in 2016, were the first such company to report that streaming was the largest source of our recorded music revenue. Looking into the
future, we believe the universe of opportunities will continue to expand, including through the proliferation of new devices such as smart speakers and the
monetization of music on social media, fitness and other platforms. We believe advancements in technology will continue to drive consumer engagement
and shape a growing and vibrant music entertainment ecosystem. : :

Our History

The Company today consists of individual companies that are among the most respected and iconic in the music industry, with a history that dates
back to the establishment of Chappell & Co. in 1811 and Parlophone in 1896. .

The Company began to take shape in 1967 when Warner-Seven Arts, the parent company of Warner Records (formerly known as Wamner Bros.
Records) acquired Atlantic Records, which discovered artists such as Led Zeppelin and Aretha Franklin. In 1969, Kinney National Company acquired
Warner-Seven Arts, and in 1970, Kinney Services (which was later spun off into Warner Communications) acquired Elektra Records, which was renowned
for artists such as The Doors and Judy Collins. In order to harness their collective strength and capabilities, in 1971, Warner Bros., Elektra and Atlantic
Records formed a groundbreaking U.S. distribution network commonly known as WEA Corp., or simply WEA, which now stretches across the world.

Throughout this time, the Cornpany’s music publishing division, Warner Bros. Music, built a strong presence. In 1987, the purchase of Chappell &
Co. created Warner Chappell Music, one of the industry’s major music publishing forces with a storied history that today connects Ludwig van Beethoven,
George Gershwin, Madonna and Lizzo.

" The parent company that had grown to become Time Warner completed the sale of the Company to a consortium of private equity investors in
2004, in the process cteating the world’s largest mdependent music company. The Company was taken public the following year, and in 2011, Access
acquired the Company.

Since acquiring the Company, Access has focused on revenue growth and increasing operating margins and cash flow combined with financial ..
_ discipline. Looking past more than a decade of music entertainment industry transitions, Access and the Company foresaw the opportunities that streaming
presented for music. Over the last eight years, Access has consistently backed the Company’s bold expansion strategies through organic A&R as well as
acquisitions. These strategies include investing more heavily in recording artists and songwriters, growing the Company’s global reach, augmenting its
streaming expertise, overhauling its systems and technological infrastructure, and diversifying into other music-based revenue streams.

The purchase of Parlophone Label Group (“PLG™) in 2013 strengthened the Company’s presence in core European territories, with recording
artists as diverse as Coldplay, David Bowie, David Guetta and Iron Maiden. That acquisition was followed by other investments that further strengthened
the Company’s footprint in established and emerging markets. Other milestones include the Company’s acquisitions of direct-to-audience businesses such
- as entertainment specialty e-tailer EMP Merchandising, live music application Songkick and youth culture platform UPROXX.

Industry Overview

The music entertainment industry is large, global and vibrant. The recorded music and music publishing industries are growing, driven by
consumer and demographic trends in the digital consumption of music.

Consumer Trends and Demographics

Consumers today engage with music in more ways than ever. According to the International Federation of the Phonographic Industry (“IFPI”)
Engaging with Music 2021 report, global consumers spent 18.4 hours listening to music each week in 2021. Demographic trends and digital music
penetration have been key factors in driving growth in music consumption. Younger consumers typically are early adopters of new technologies, including
music-enabled devices. According to-IFPI's Engaging with Music 2021 report, in 2021, the rapid emergence of short-form video, livestreaming and in-
game experiences drove new opportunities in music. Of the time people spent using short-form video apps, 68% involved music-dependent videos. In
addition, 29% of the surveyed population had watched a music livestream such as a concert in the last 12 months, and in gaming, 31% of gamers have
attended a virtual concert on platforms like Fortnite, Roblox, or Minecraft. Additionally, according to IFPI, in the physical sales space, for the first time in
20 years, there was growth in the physical market. Revenues increased by 16.1% to $5 billion. This was partly driven by a recovery in physical retail which ~
had been heavily impacted in 2020 by the COVID-19 pandemic. Revenues from CDs grew for the first time this millennium and there was particularly
strong engagement with the format i in Asia. At the same time, the recent resurgence of interest in vinyl continued with very strong revenue growth in 2021
of 51.3% (up ﬁom 25.9% growth in 2020).




Members of qlder dernographrc groups are also i mcreasrng their music engagement. According to an IFPI survey, users of paid accounts as a /
percentage of all streaming service users rose from 38% to 47% of those surveyed between 2019 and 2021, with growth seen across all demographics.
While 55- to 64-year-olds using streaming servrces remained the age group least hkely tousea pard streammg service, they saw the fastest uptake in.
growth in relative terms , :

Musrc permeates our culture across age groups, as evidenced by the footprint that music has across socidl media. According to the Recording -
Industry Association of América (“RIAA”), as of September 2022, 6 out of the top 10 most followed accounts on Twitter belong to musicians, and
according to YouTube, the majority of videos that have achieved more than one billion lifetime views as well as the top 10 most watched videos of all time,

bel(ong to musicians. Further, according to-MusicWatch Inc., 77% of music consumers across all age groups used social media for music in 2021.

.
-

The music industry as a whole is currently undergoing a transforrnan'on driven by Gen Z. According to Luminate, Gen Z is investing more time - ~
and money on music-when compared to the average music listener. They spend 21% more hours and spend 18% more money on music annually compared”
to the average rnusrc listener. Gen Z listeners are also 28% more likély to pay for premium music subscriptions. One in four Gen Z listeners who are not ’
currently payrng for a streaming service intend to begin paying for one in the next 6 months. : S .
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_ Recorded Mustc

The recorded music industry generated $25.9 billion in global revenue in 2021, according to TFPI, which represents a year-over- year increase of
18.5%, marking the seventh consecutive year of growth. Accordmg to IFPI global recorded music revenue has grown at a CAGR of 11% since 2017.

IFPI measures the recorded music industry on a global scale based on five 1 revenue categories: strearnmg, downloads and other digital (excludmg
streaming), physical, synchronization and performance rights. Streaming is the largest of these categories, generating $16.9 billion of revenue in 2021,
representmg 65% of global recorded music revenue. Within streaming, subscription audio streams generated approximately 73% of revenue, or $123 .
billion, with the remainder of streaming revenue coming from ad-supported audio streams and video-streams, which generated 27% of revenue or $4.6
billion. Overall, streaming grew by 24.3% in 2021 as compared to 2020. Physical represented approximately 19% of global recorded music revenue in
2021, with growth in both vinyl and CD sales. Performance rights revenue represents the use of recorded music by broadcasters and public venues, and
represented approximately 9% of global recorded music revenue in 2021. Downloads and other digital revenue represented approximately 4% of global
recorded music revenue in 2021. Synchronization revenue is generated from the use of recorded music in advertrsmg, film, video games and televrsron
content, and represented 2% of global recorded music revenue in 2021 . . : N -

Global Recorded Music Industry lievenues 2017 to 2021 (8 in billions).

N
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From a geographical standpoint, the largest markets for recorded music in 2021 were the United States, Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany,
France, China, South Korea, Canada; Australia and Italy. The graphic below sets out the top ten markets and their respective revenue growth for 2021.
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We believe the following secular trends will continue to drive growth in the recorded music industry:

Streaming Still in Early Stages of Global Adoption and Penetration

According to IFPI, global paid music streaming subscribers totaled 528 million at the end of 2021. While this represents an increase of 19% from
443 million in 2020, it still represents less than 14% of the 3.9 billion smartphone users globally in 2021, according to Newzoo. It also represents a small
fraction of the user base for large, globally scaled digital services such as Facebook, which reported 3.0 billion monthly usérs as of September 2022, and
YouTube, which reported over 2.5 billion monthly users as of September 2022. Addmonally, Instagram reported 1.5 billion monthly users while TikTok
reported 1.0 billion monthly users. On-demand audio streaming reached 1.13 trillion streams in the United States in 2021, according to Luminate (formerly
MRC Data/Billboard).

The potential of global paid streaming subscriber growth is demonstrated by the penetration rates in early adopter markets. Approximately 58% of
the population in Sweden, where Spotify was founded, was estimated to be paid music subscribers in 2021, according to Goldman Sachs. This compares to
approximately 38%, 35% and 30% for established markets such as the United States, United Kingdom and Germany, respectively. There also remains
substantial opportunity in emerging markets, such as Brazil and India, where paid streaming penetration is low compared to developed markets. According
to Goldman Sachs, paid streaming penetration for Brazil and India in 2021 was 12% and 1%, respectively.

China, in particular, represents a substantial growth market for the recorded music industry. Digital music monetization models, including paid
streaming and virtual gifting (which refers to the purchase of a digital, non-durable, non-physical item (e.g., an emoji) that is delivered to another person
often during a live karaoke performance), created the foundation for the recorded music industry to overcome piracy and generate revenue in China,
According to Goldman Sachs, paid streaming models are at an early stage in China, with an estimated 8% paid streaming penetration rate in 2021. Despite
its substantial population, China was the world’s sixth-largest music market in 2021, having only broken into the top 10 in 2017.

Opportunities for Improved Streaming Pricing

In addition to paid subscriber growth, we believe that, over time, streaming revenues will increase due to pricing increases as the broader market
further develops. Streaming services are already at the early stages of experimenting with price increases. For example, in 2021 Spotify increased prices in
the United States, the UK and other European markets. Spotify has reported positive early results, having seen no meaningful impacts to churn or customer
intake in these markets. In 2022, Apple Music increased prices of its student plans in the United States, the UK and Canada, and Amazon Music Unlimited
increased the prices of both its individual and family subscnptlon plans. We believe the value proposition that streaming provides to consumers suppons
premlum product initiatives. :




Tech}zology Enables Innovation and Presents Additional Opportunities

Technological innovation has helped facilitate the penetration of music listening across locations, including homes, offices and cars, as well as
across devices, including smartphones, tablets, wearables, digital dashboards, gaming consoles, smart speakers, exercise equipment, personal computers
and connected TVs. These technologies represent advancements that are deepening listener engagement and driving further growth in music consumption.

Short-form music and music-based video content has grown rapidly, driven by the growth of global social video applications such as TikTok,
which features short videos often set to music. According to Sensor Tower, TikTok was the most downloaded app globally in the first half of 2022,
surpassing 3.5 billion all-time downloads. Such applications have the potential for mass adoption, illustrating the opportunity for additional platforms of
scale to be created to the benefit of the music entertainment industry. These platforms enable incremental consumption of music appealing to varied, and
often younger, audiences. From a recording artist’s perspective, these platforms have the potential to rewrite the path to stardom. For example, our
recording artist, Fitz & the Tantrums, an American band, rose to international fame in 2018 as their song “HandClap” went viral in Asia on TikTok. Fitz &
the Tantrums quickly topped the international music charts in South Korea and surpassed one billion streams in China. Short-form music and music-based -
video content have also become increasingly popular on social media platforms such as Facebook, Instagram and YouTube (through its recent introduction
of “Shorts™), further illustrating the growing number of potential pathways through which recording artists may gain consumer exposure and grow
connections with their fans.

Music Publishing ' - ,

Music publishing involves the acquisition of rights to, and the licensing of, musical compositions (as opposed to sound recordings) from
songwriters, composers or other rights holders. According to Music & Copyright, the music publishing industry generated $6.9 billion in global revenue in
2021, representing an approximate 17.6% increase from $5.9 billion in 2020 (fo]lowmg an increase in global music publishing revenues of 5.2% from 2019
to 2020).

Music publishing revenues are classified by Music & Copyright as coming from four main royalty sources: digital; mechanical; performance; and
synchronization. In 2021, digital, which accounted for approximately 57% of global revenue, represented the largest component of industry revenues, while
synchronization, which accounted for approximately 18%, represented the second-largest and fastest-growing component of industry revenues.
Performance accounted for approximately 17% of global revenue in 2021. Mechanical revenues from traditional physical music formats (e.g., vinyl, CDs,
DVDs), accounted for approximately 6% of global revenue in 2021.

Glebal Music Publishing Industry Revenues 2017 to 2021 (§ in billions)
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Positive Regulatory Trends

The music industry has benefited from positive regulatory developments in recent years, which are expected to lead to increased revenues for the
music entertainment mdustry in the commg years. .

Music Modernization Act ("MMA"). In 2018, the enactment of the MMA in the United States resulted in major reforms to music licensing. The
MMA improves the way digital music services obtain mechanical licenses for musical compositions, requires the




payment of royalties to recording artists for pre-1972 sound recordings streamed on digital radio services such as SiriusXM and Pandora, and provides for
direct payments of royalties owed to producers, mixers and engineers when their original works are streamed on non-interactive webcasting services.

Copyright Royalty Board (“CRB"). In 2018, the CRB issued its determination of royalty rates and terms, significantly increasing the mechanical
royalty rates paid for musical compositions in the United States from 2018 through 2022. In August 2020, following an appeal of that decision by some
digital music servicés, the decision was vacated in part and the case was remanded to the CRB for further proceedings. In 2018, the CRB issued its
determination of royalty rates and terms, significantly increasing the royalty rates paid for sound recordings in the United States by SiriusXM from 2018
through 2022, and the MMA extended that increase through 2027. In 2022, The National Music Publishers’ Association (“NMPA”), the Nashville
Songwriters Associations International (“NSAI”) and the Digital Media Association (“DiMA”) announced a settlement regarding the U.S. mechanical
streaming rates for 2023-2027. The agreement sets the headline royalty rate for this period at 15.35% of total revenue, which will be introduced gradually
over the course of the five-year term. Earlier in 2022, songwriters and publishers won a raise in streaming headline royalty rates from 10.5% to 15.1% over
the 2018-2022 period. The headline rates escalate from 15.1% of total revenue in 2023 to 15.2% in 2024 and then a half a percentage point increase in each
of the remaining three years, peaking at 15.35% in 2027. This settlement will also change other important factors in U.S. mechanical streaming rates,
including increases to per-subscriber minimums and Total Content Costs (“TCC”). According to the joint announcement of the deal, this also “modernizes
the way music streaming-related product and service bundles are treated and has updated its rules on how streaming services can incentivize potential
subscribers.

.

European Union Copyright Directive. In 2019, the European Union (“EU”) passed legislation which will rein in safe harbors from liability for
copyright infringement and rebalance the online marketplace to ensure-that nghtsholders and recording artists are remunerated fairly when their music is
shared online by user-uploaded content services such as YouTube.

Our Competitive Sﬁepgths

Well-Positioned to Benefit from Growth in the Global Music Market Driven by Streaming. The music entertainment industry has undergone a
transformation in the consumption and monetization of content towards streaming over the last five years. According to the IFPI, from 2017 through 2021,
global recorded music revenue grew at a CAGR of 11%, with streaming revenue growing at a CAGR of 27% and increasing as a percentage of global
recorded music revenue from 38% to 65% over the same period. By comparison, from fiscal year 2017 to fiscal year 2021, our recorded music streaming
revenue grew at a CAGR of 22% and increased as a percentage of our total recorded music revenues from 44% to 65%. We believe our innovation-focused

. operating strategy with an emphasis on genres that over-index on streaming platforms (e.g., hip-hop and pop) has consistently allowed our digital revenue
growth to keep pace with the market, highlighted by our becoming the first major music entertainment company to report that our streaming revenue was
the largest source of recorded music revenue in 2016.

The growth of streaming services has not only improved the discoverability and personalization of music, but has also increased consumer
willingness to pay for seamless convenience and access. We believe consumer adoption of paid streaming services still has significant potential for growth.
For example, according to Goldman Sachs, in 2021, approximately 58% of the smartphone users in Sweden, an early adopter market, was paid music
subscribers. This illustrates the opportunity to drive long-term growth by increasing penetration of paid subscriptions throughout the world, including
important markets such as the United States, Japan, Germany, the United Kingdom and France, where paid subscriber levels are lower. Our catalog and
roster of recording artists and songwriters, including our strengths in hip-hop and pop music, position us to benefit as streaming continues to grow. We also
believe our diversified catalog of evergreen music amassed over many decades will prove advantageous as demographics evolve from younger early
adopters to a wider demogfaphic mix and as digital music services target broader audiences.

Established Presence in Growing International Markets, Including China. We believe we will benefit from the growth in international markets
due to our local A&R focus, as well as our local and global marketing and distribution infrastructure that includes a network of subsidiaries, affiliates, and
non-affiliated licensees and sub-publishers in more than 70 countries. We are developing local talent to achieve regional, national and international success.
We have expanded our global footprint over time by acquiring independent recorded music and music publishing businesses, catalogs and recording artist
and songwriter rosters in China, Indonesia, Poland, Russia and South Africa, among other markets. In addition, we have increased organic investment in
heavily populated emerging markets by, for example, launching Warner Music Middle East, our recorded music affiliate covering 17 markets across the
Middle East and North Africa (“MENA”) with a total population of 472 million people, by acquiring Qanawat, one of the largest independent distributors
in MENA, and by investing in Rotana, one of the leading independent labels in MENA. We have also strengthened our Wamer Music Asia executive team
with new appointments and promotions. )

With every region around the world at different stages in transitioning to digital formats, we believe establishing creative hubs by opening new
regional offices and partnering with local players will achieve our objective of building local expertise while delivering maximum global impact for our
recording artists and songwriters. For example, we recently acquired one of South Africa’s




leading independent music labels, Coleske, and music from this influential label’s recording artists and songwriters will join our repertoire and receive the
support of our wide-ranging global expertise, including distribution and artist services.

Differentiated Platform of Scale with Top Industry Position. With over $4.9 billion in annual recorded music revenues, over half of which are
generated outside of the United States, we believe our platform is differentiated by the scale, reach and broad appeal of our music. Our collection of owned
and controlled recordings and musical compositions, spanning a large variety of genres and geographies over many decades, cannot be replicated. As one
of three major music entertainment companies, our industry position remains strong and poised for continued growth. As reported in Music & Copyright,
our global recorded music market share has increased approximately 8% from 2011 to 2021, growing from 15.1% to 16.3%. In addmon according to
Nielsen, Atlantic Records was the No. 1 record label on the Billboard 200 in the United States in 2017, 2018 and 2019.

Star-Making, Culture-Defining Core Capabilities. For decades, our A&R strategy of identifying and nurturing recording artists and songwriters
with the talents to be successful has yielded an extensive catalog of iconic music across a wide breadth of musical genres and marquee brands all over the
world. Our marketing and promotion departments provide a comprehensive suite of solutions that are specifically tailored to each of our recording artists
and carefully coordinated to create the greatest sales momenturn for new and catalog releases alike. The development of our vibrant roster of recording
artists has been informed by our significant experience in being able to adapt to changes in consumer trends and sentiment over time. Qur creative instincts
yield custom strategies for each and every one of our recording artists.

In addition, Warner Chappell Music boasts a diversified catalog of timeless classics together with an ever-growing group of contemporary
songwriters who are actively contributing to today’s top hits. We believe our longstanding reputation and relationships in the creative community, as well as
our historical success in talént developmeént and management, will continue to attract new recording artists and songwriters with staying power and market
potential through the strength and scale of our proprietary capabilities,

Strong Financial Profile with Robust Growth, Operating Leverage and Free Cash Flow Generation. For fiscal year 2020 through fiscal year
2022, we have grown as-reported revenues at a CAGR of 15% driven by secular tailwinds, organic reinvestment in A&R and strategic acquisitions,
partially offset by the impact of the business disruption resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. For our fiscal year 2022, our business generated net
income and Adjusted EBITDA of $555 million and $1,196 million, respectively, implying an Adjusted EBITDA margin of approximately 20%. We believe
our financial profile provides a strong foundation for our continued growth.

Experienced Leadership Team and Committed Strategic Investor. Our management team has successfully designed and implemented our
business strategy, delivering strong financial results, releasing an increasing flow of new music and establishing a dynamic culture of innovation. At the
same time, our management team has driven an increase in operating margins and cash flow through an improved revenue mix to higher-margin digital
platforms and overhead cost management, while maintaining financial flexibility to both organically invest in the business and pursue strategic acquisitions
to diversify our revenue mix. Our Recorded Music and Music Publishing businesses are led by entrepreneurial and creative individuals with extensive
experience in discovering and developing recording artists and songwriters and managing their creative output on a global scale. In addition, we have
benefited, and expect to continue to benefit, from our acquisition by Access in July 2011, which has provided us with strategic direction, M&A and capital
markets expertise and planning support to help us take full advantage of the ongoing transition in the music entertainment industry. '

Expertise in Strategic Acquisitions and Investments That Extend Our Capabilities. Since 2011 when Access became our controlling shareholder,
we have completed more than 15 strategic acquisitions. The acquisition of PLG in 2013 significantly strengthened our worldwide roster, global footprint
and executive talent, particularly in Europe. The acquisition of 300 Entertainment in 2022 strengthened and diversified Elektra Music Group by adding a
hip-hop focused label which led to the subsequent launch of 300 Elektra Entertainment, or 3EE, a frontline label group that brings together the multi-genre
power of 300 Entertainment and Elektra. In addition, we have made several smaller strategic acquisitions aimed at expanding our artist services capabilities
in our Recorded Music business, including EMP, one of Europe’s leading specialty music and entertainment merchandise e-tailers; Sodatone, a premier _
A&R insight tool; UPROXX, the youth culture and video production powerhouse; Spinnin’ Records, one of the world’s leading independent electronic
music companies; and Songkick’s concert discovery application. These transactions showcase the growing breadth of our platform across the music
entertainment ecosystem and have increased our direct access to fans of our recording artists and songwriters. In addition to our commercial arrangements
with digital music services, we opportunistically invest in some of those services as well as other companies in our industry, including minority equity
stakes in Deezer, a French digital music service in which Access owns a controlling equity interest, and Tencent Music Entertainment Group, the leading
online music entertainment platform in China. Acquiring and investing in businesses that are highly complementary to our existing portfolio further enables
us to potentially derive incremental and new revenue streams from different business models in new markets.
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Our Growth Strategies

Attract, Develop and Retain Established and Emerging Recording Artists and Songwriters. A critical component of our global strategy is to
produce an increasing flow of new music by finding, developing and retaining recording artists and songwriters who achieve long-term success. Since
2011, our annual new releases have grown significantly and our catalog of musical compositions has increased to more than one million. We expect to
enhance the value of our assets by continuing to attract and develop new recording artists and songwriters with staying power and market potential. Our
A&R teams seek to sign talented recording artists and songwriters who will generate meaningful revenues and increase the enduring value of our catalog.
We have also made meaningful investments in technology to further expand our A&R capabilities in a rapidly changing music environment. In 2018, we
acquired Sodatone, an advanced A&R tool that uses streaming, social and touring data to help track early predictors of success. When combined with the
strength of our current ability to identify creative talent, we expect this to further enhance our ability to scout and sign breakthrough recording artists and
songwriters. In addition, we anticipate that investment in, or commercial relationships with, technology companies will enable us to tailor our marketing
efforts for established recording artists and songwriters by gaining valuable insight into consumer reactions to new releases. We regularly evaluate our
recording artist and songwriter rosters to ensure that we remain focused on developing the most promising and profitable talent and are committed to
maintaining financial discipline in the negotiation of our agreements with recording artists and songwriters.

Focus on Growth Markets to Position Us to Realize Upside from Incremental Penetration of Streaming. While the rapid growth of streaming
has already transformed the music entertainment industry, streaming is still in relatively early stages, as significant opportunity remains in both developed
markets and markets largely untapped by the adoption of paid streaming subscriptions. Some of our largest markets, such as the United States, Germany,
United Kingdom and France, still lag Nordic countries in penetration of paid subscriptions and have room for future growth. In these markets, we will
continue to increase our output of new releases and use data to more effectively target our marketing efforts. Less mature markets, such as China and
Bra211 have large populations with relatively high smartphone penetration, and we are well placed to benefit from streaming tallwmds over the next several
years with our local presence and extensive catalog.

Expand Global Presence with Investment in Local Music in Nascent Markets. We recognize that music is inherently local in nature, shaped by
people and culture. IFPI considers the global recorded music market in seven distinct regions. In 2021, five out of these seven regions achieved double-
digit growth with MENA being the fastest growing region at 35% revenue growth followed by Latin America at 31% revenue growth. One of our vital
business functions is to help our recording artists and songwriters solve the complexities associated with a fragmented, global market of mixed musical
tastes. We have found that investment in local music provides the best opportunity to understand these nuances, and we have made it a strategic priority to
seek out investment opportunities in emerging markets. For example, we opened an office in the MENA region to prepare for the forecasted rise in
smartphone penetration and projected uptake in digital music. These investments are made with the purpose of increasing our understanding of local market
dynamics and popularizing our current roster of recording artists and songwriters around the world. .

Embrace Commercial Innovation with New Digital Distributors and Partners. We believe the growth of digital formats will continue to create
new and powerful ways to distribute and monetize our music. We were the first major music company to strike landmark deals with important companies
such as Apple, YouTube, Peloton, Twitch and Tencent Music Entertainment Group, as well as with pure-play music technology companies such as
MixCloud, SoundCloud and Audiomack. We believe that the continued development of new digital channels for the consumption of music and increasing
access to digital music services present significant promise and opportunity for the music entertainment industry. We are also focused on investing in
" emerging music technologies, demonstrated by our launch of WMG Boost, a seed-stage investment fund for start-ups in the music entertainment industry
and through partnerships with entrepreneurial incubators such as-TechStars. We intend to continue to extend our technological reach by executing deals
with new partners and developing optimal business models that will enable us to monetize our music across various platforms, services and devices. We
also intend to continue to support and invest in emerging technologies, including artificial intelligence, artificial reality, virtual reality, high-resolution audio
and other technologies to continue to bujld new revenue streams and position ourselves for long-term growth.

Pursue Acquisitions to Enhance Asset Portfolio and Long-Term Growth. We have successfully completed a number of strategic acquisitions,
particularly in our Recorded Music business. Strengthening and expanding our global footprint provides us with insights on markets in which we can
immediately capitalize on favorable industry trends, as evidenced by our acquisition of PLG in 2013. We also build upon our core competencies with
additive and ancillary capabilities. For example, our acquisition of UPROXX, one of the most influential media brands for youth culture, not only provides
a platform for short-form music and music-based video content production to market and promote our recording artists, but also includes sales capabilities
to monetize advertising inventory on digital audio and video platforms. We plan to continue selectively pursuing acquisition opportunities while
maintaining financial discipline to further improve our growth trajectory and drive operating efficiencies with increased free cash flow generation. With
_ tespect to our Music Publishing business, we have the opportunity to generate significanl value by acquiring other music publishers and cxtracting cost

savings (as acquired catalogs can be administered with littie incremental cost), as well as by increasing revenues .
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through more aggresswe monetization efforts. We will also continue to evaluate opportunities to add to our catalog or acquire or make investments in
_ companies engaged in businesses that we believe will help to advance our strategies.

Recorded Music (84%, 86% and 85% of consolidated revenues, before intersegment eliminations, for each of the fiscal years ended September 30,
2022, September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020, respectively)

Our Recorded Music business primarily consists of the discovery and development of recording artists and the related marketing, promotion,
distribution, sale and licensing of music created by such recording artists. We play an integral role in virtually all aspects of the recorded music value chain
from discovering and developing talent to producing, distributing and selling music to marketing and promoting recording artists and their music.

. In the United States, our Recorded Music business is conducted principally through our major record labels—Atlantic Records and Warner
Records. In October 2018, we launched Elektra Music Group in the United States as a standalone label group, which comprises the Elektra, Fueled by
Ramen and Roadrunner labels, and in December 2021, we acquired 300 Entertainment and subsequently launched 300 Elektra Entertainment, or 3EE, a
frontline label group that brings together the multi-genre power of 300 Entertainment and Elektra. Our Recorded Music business also includes Rhino
Entertainment, a division that specializes in marketing our recorded music catalog primarily through reissuances of previously released music and video
titles and releasing previously unreleased material from our vault. We also conduct our Recorded Music business through a collection of additional record
labels including Asylum, Big Beat Canvasback, East West, Erato, FFRR, Nonesuch, Parlophone, Reprise, Sire, Spinnin’ Records, Warner Classics and
Warner Music Nashville. :

Outside the United States, our Recorded Music business is conducted through various subsidiaries, affiliates and non-affiliated licensees.
Internationally, we engage in the same activities as in the United States: discovering and signing artists and distributing, selling, marketing and promoting
their music. In most cases, we also market, promote, distribute and sell the music of those recording artists for whom our domestic record labels have
international rights. In certain smaller markets, we license the right to distribute and sell our music to non-affiliated third-party record labels.

Our Recorded Music business’ distribution operations include WEA Corp., which markets, distributes and sells music and video products to
retailers and wholesale distributors; Alternative Distribution Alliance (“ADA”), which markets, distributes and sells the products of independent labels to
retail and wholesale distributors; and various distribution centers and ventures operated internationally.

In addition to our music being sold in physical retail outlets, our music is also sold in physical form to online physical retailers, such as
amazon.com, barnesandnoble.com and bestbuy.com, and distributed in digital form to an expanded universe of digital partners, including streaming
services such as those of Amazon, Apple, Deezer, SoundCloud, Spotify, Tencent Music Entertainment Group and YouTube, radio services such as iHeart
Radio and SiriusXM and download services.

We have diversified our revenues beyond our traditional businesses by entering into expanded-rights deals with recording artists in order to partner
with such artists in other aspects of their careers. Under these agreements, we provide services to and participate in recording artists’ activities outside the
traditional recorded music business such as touring, merchandising and sponsorships. We have built and acquired artist services capabilities and platforms
for marketing and distributing this broader set of music-related rights and participating more widely in the monetization of the artist brands we help create.
~ We believe that entering into expanded-rights deals and enhancing our artist services capabilities in areas such as merchandising, VIP ticketing, fan clubs,

concert promotion and management has permitted us to diversify revenue streams and capitalize on other revenue opportunities. This provides for
improved long-term relationships with our recording artists and allows us to more effectively connect recording artists and fans.

A&R

We have a decades-long history of identifying and contracting with recording artists who become commercially successful. Our ability to select
recording artists who are likely to be successful is a key element of our Recorded Music business’ strategy and spans all music genres and all major
geographies and includes recording artists who achieve national, regional and international success. We believe that this success is directly attributable to

our experienced global team of A&R executives, to the longstanding reputation and relationships that we have developed in the artistic community and to
our effective management of this vital business function.

In the United States, our major record labels identify potentially successful recording artists, sign them to recording contracts, collaborate with
them to develop recordings of their work and market and sell or license these finished recordings to legitimate digital channels and retail stores.
Increasingly, we are also expanding our participation in image and brand rights associated with artists, including merchandising and sponsorships. Our
labels scout and sign talent across all major music genres, including pop, rock, jazz, . ’
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classical, country, R&B, hip-hop, rap, reggae, Latin, alternative, folk, blues, gospel and other Christian music. Internationally, we market and sell U.S. and
local repertoire through our network of subsidiaries, affiliates and non-affiliated licensees. With a roster of local recording artists performing in various
local languages throughout the world, we have an ongoing commitment to developing local talent aimed at achieving national, regional or international
success.

Many of our recording artists continue to appeal to audiences long after we cease to release their new music. We have an efficient process for
sustaining sales across our catalog releases. Relative to our new releases, we spend lesser amounts on marketing for our catalog.

We maximize the value of our catalog of recorded music through our Rhino Entertainment business unit and through activities of each of our
record labels. We use our catalog as a source of material for re-releases, box sets and special package releases, which provide consumers with incremental
exposure to familiar music and recording artists. Rhino Entertainment also releases new music from legacy recording.artists and markets and promotes the
name and likeness of certain artist estates and brands. ’ ’

Recording Artists’ Contracts

" Our recording artists’ contracts define the commercial relationship between our recording artists and our record labels. We negotiate recording
contracts with recording artists that define our rights to use the recording artists” music. In accordance with the terms of the contract, the recording artists
receive royalties based on sales and other uses of such recording artists’ music. We customarily provide upfront payments to recording artists called
advances, which are recoupable by us from future royalties otherwise payable to such recording artists. We also typically pay costs associated with the
recording and production of music, which in many countries are treated as advances recoupable by us from future royalties. Our typical contract for a new
recording artist covers a sufficient number of master recordings to constitute an extended-play record (known as an EP) or an album and provides us with a
series of options to acquire subsequent albums from the artist. Royalty rates and advances are often increased for subsequent albums for which we have
exercised our options. Many of our contracts contain a commitment from the record label to fund video production costs, at least a portion of which in
certain countries is treated as advances recoupable by us from future royalties. '

Our recording contracts with established artists generally provide for greater advances and higher royalty rates. Typically, such contracts entitle us
to fewer albums, and, of those, fewer are optional albums. In contrast to new artists’ contracts, which, with certain territorial or other exceptions,
customarily give us ownership in the artist’s work for the full term of the copyright or a long-term exclusive license, established artists’ contracts more
commonly provide us with an exclusive license for some fixed period of time. It is not unusual for us to renegotiate contract terms with a successful artist
during the term of their existing contracts, sometimes in return for an increase in the number of albums that the artist is required to deliver.

Many of the recording contracts we currently enter into are expanded-rights deals, in which we share in the touring, merchandising, sponsorship,
fan club or other ancillary music revenues associated with those artists.

See “—Intellectual Property—Copyrights.” United States copyright law permits authors or their estates to terminate an assignment or license of
copyright (for the United States only) after a set period of time in certain circumstances. See “Risk Factors—We face a potential loss of catalog to the
extent that our recording artists have a right to recapture rights in their recordings under the U.S. Copyright Act.”

Marketing and Promotion

Our approach to marketing and promoting our recording artists and their music is comprehensive. Our goal is to maximize the likelihood of
success for new releases as well as to stimulate the success of catalog releases. We seek to increase the value of music and help our recording artists
connect with their fans. )

The marketing and promotion of recorded music is carefully coordinated to create the greatest sales momentum, while maintaining financial
discipline. We have significant experience in our marketing and promotion departments, which we believe allows us to achieve an optimal balance between
our marketing expenditure and the eventual sales of our artists’ recordings. We use a budget-based approach to plan marketing and promotions, and we
monitor all expenditures related to each release to ensure compliance with the agreed-upon budget. These planning processes are regularly evaluated based
on updated sales reports, streaming service data and radio airplay data, so that a promotion plan can be quickly adjusted if necessary.

Manufacturing, Packaging and Physical Distribution

We have arrangements with various suppliers and distributors as part of our manufacturing, packaging and physical distribution services
throughout the world. We believe that our manufacturing, packaging and physical distribution arrangements are sufficient to meet our business needs.

13




Sales and Digital Distribution

We generate revenues from the new releases of current artists and our catalog of recordings. In addition, we actively repackage music from our
catalog to form new releases. Our revenues are generated in digital formats including streaming and downloads; CD format, as well as through historical
formats, such as vinyl albums.

In connection with the digital distribution of our music, we currently partner with a broad range of digital music services, such as Amazon, Apple,
Deezer, KKBox, Spotify, Telefonica, Tencent Music Entertainment Group and YouTube, and are actively seeking to develop and grow our digital | business.
We also sell traditional physical formats through both the online distribution arms of traditional retailers such as target.com and walmart.com and
traditional online physical retailers such as amazon.com, bestbuy.com and barnesandnoble.com. Streaming services stream our music on an ad- supported or
paid subscription basis. In addition, downloading services download our music on a per-album or per-track basis. In digital formats, per-unit costs related
directly to physical products such as manufacturing, distribution, inventory and return costs do not apply. While there are some digital-specific variable
costs and infrastructure investments needed to produce, market and license digital products, it is reasonable to expect that we will generally derive a higher
contribution margin from streaming and downloads than from physical sales. We sell our physical recorded music products through a variety of different
retail and wholesale outlets including music specialty stores, general entertainment specialty stores, supermarkets, mass merchants and discounters,
independent retailers and other traditional retailers. Although some of our retailers are specialized, many of our customers offer a substantial range of
products other than music.

Most of our physical sales represent purchases by a wholesale or retail distributor. Our sale and return policies are in accordance with wholesaler
and retailer requirements, applicable laws and regulations, territory and customer-specific negotiations and industry practice. We attempt to minimize the
return of unsold product by working with retailers to manage inventory and SKU counts as well as by monitoring shipments and sell-through data.

We enter into agreements with digital music services to make our music available for access in digital formats (e.g., streaming and downloads).
We then provide digital assets for our music to these services in an accessible form. Our agreements with these services establish our fees for the
distribution of our music, which vary based on the service. We typically receive accounting from these services on a monthly basis, detailing the
distribution activity, with payments rendered on a monthly basis. Our agreements with digital music services generally last one to three years. In fiscal year
2022, Recorded Music revenue earned under our agreements with our top three digital music accounts, Spotify, YouTube and Apple, accounted for '
approximately 43% of our Recorded Music revenues.

Since the emergence of digital formats, our business has become less seasonal in nature and driven more by the timing of our releases.

Music Publishing (16%, 14% and 15% of consolidated revenues, before intersegment eliminations, for each of the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2022, September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020, respectively)

While Recorded Music is focused on marketing, promoting, distributing and licensing a particular recording of a musical composition, Music
Publishing is an intellectual property business focused on generating revenue from uses of the musical composition itself. In return for promoting, placing,
marketing and administering the creative output of a songwriter, or engaging in those activities for other rightsholders, our Music Publishing business
shares the revenues generated from use of the musical compositions with the songwriter or other rightsholders.

The operations of our Music Publishing business are conducted principally through Warner Chappell Music, our global music publishing company
headquartered in Los Angeles, and through various subsidiaries, affiliates, and non-affiliated licensees and sub-publishers. We own or control rights to
more than one million musical compositions, including numerous pop hits, American standards, folk songs and motion picture and theatrical compositions.
Assembled over decades, our award-winning catalog includes over 100,000 songwriters and composers and a diverse range of genres including pop, rock,
Jazz, classical, country, R&B, hip-hop, rap, reggae, Latin, folk, blues, symphonic, soul, Broadway, electronic, alternative and gospel. Warner Chappell
Music also administers the music and soundtracks of several third-party television and film producers and studios. We have an extensive production music
catalog collectively branded as Warner Chappell Production Music.

Music Publishing Royalties

Warner Chappell Music, as a copyright owner and administrator of musical compositions, is entitled to receive royalties for the use of musical
compositions. We continually add new musical compositions to our catalog and seek to acquire rights in musical compositions that will generate substantial
revenue over the long term.
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Music publishers generally receive royalties pursuant to public performance, digital, mechanical, synchronization and other licenses. In the United
States, music publishers collect and administer mechanical royalties, and statutory rates are established pursuant to the U.S. Copyright Act of 1976, as
amended, for the royalty rates applicable to musical compositions for sale and licensing of recordings embodying those musical compositions. In the
United States, public performance income is administered and collected by music publishers and their performing rights organizations and in most
countries outside the United States, collection, administration and allocation.of both mechanical and performance income are undertaken and regulated by
governmental or quasi-governmental authorities. Throughout the world, each synchronization license is generally subject to negotiation with a prospective
licensee and, by contract, music publishers pay a contractually required percentage of synchronization income to the songwriters or their heirs and to any
co-publishers. )

Wamner Chappell Music acquires copyrights or portions of copyrights and administration rights from songwriters or other third-party holders of
rights in musical compositions. Typicélly, in either case, the grantor of rights retains a right to receive a percentage of revenues collected by Warner
Chappell Music. As an owner and administrator of musical compositions, we promote the use of those musical compositions by others. For example, we
encourage recording artists to record and include our musical cpmpdsitions on their recordings, offer opportunities to include our musical compositions in
filmed entertainment, advertisements and digital media and advocate for the use of our musical compositions in live stage productions. Examples of music
uses that generate music publishing revenues include: '

Performance: performance of the song to the general public

. Broadcast of musical compositions on television, radio and cable

. Live performance at a concert or other venue (e.g., arena concerts, nightclubs)
. Broadcast of musical compositions at sporting' events, restaurants or bars

. Performance of musical compositions in staged theatrical productions

Digital: licensing of recorded music in various digital formats and digital performance of musical compositions to the general public

. Streaming and download services

Mechanical: sale of recorded music in various physical formats

. Vinyl, CDs and DVDs

Synchronization: use of the musical composition in combination with visual images

. Films or television programs

. Television commerci@ls

*+  Video games

. Merchandising, toys or novelty items

Other:

. Licensing of copyrights for use in printed sheet music

In the United States, mechanical royalties are collected directly by music publishers, from recorded music companies or via The Harry Fox
Agency, a non-exclusive licensing agent affiliated with the Society of European Stage Authors and Composers (“SESAC”), while outside the United States,
mechanical royalties are collected directly by music publishers or from collecting societies. Once mechanical royalties reach the publisher, percentages of
those royalties are paid or credited to the writer or other rightsholder of the copyright in accordance with the underlying rights agreement. Mechanical
royalties are paid at a rate of 9.1 cents per song per unit in the United States for physical formats (e.g., CDs and vinyl albums) and permanent digital
downloads (recordings in excess of five minutes attract a higher rate). There are also rates set for interactive streaming and non-permanent downloads
based on a formula that takes into account revenues paid by consumers or advertisers with certain minimum royalties that may apply depending on the type
of service. “Controlled composition” provisions contained in some recording contracts may apply to the rates mentioned above pursuant to which
artist/songwriters license their rights to their record companies for as little as 75% of the statutory rates. The current U.S. statutory mechanical rates will
remain in effect through December 31, 2022. In most other territories, mechanical royalties are based on a percentage of wholesale prices for physical
formats and based on a percentage of consumer prices for digital formats. In international markets, these rates are determined by multi-year collective
bargaining agreements and rate tribunals.

’
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Throughout the world, performance royalties are collected by publishers directly or on behalf of music publishers and songwriters by performance
‘rights organizations and collecting societies. Key performing rights organizations and collecting societies include: The American Society of Composers,
Authors and Publishers (“ASCAP”), SESAC and Broadcast-Music, Inc. (“BMI”) in the United States; Mechanical-Copyright Protection Society and The
Performing Right Society in the United Kingdom; The German Copyright Society in Germany and the Japanese Society for Rights of Authors, Composers
and Publishers in Japan. The societies pay a percentage (which is set in each country) of the performance royalties to the copyright owner(s) or
.administrators (i.e., the publisher(s)), and a percentage directly to the songwriter(s), of the composition. Thus, the publlsher generally retains the
performance royalties it receives other than any amounts attributable to co-publishers.

Composers’ and Lyricists’ Contracts

Warner Chappell Music derives its rights through contracts with composers, lyricists (songwriters) or their heirs and with third-party music
publishers. In some instances, those contracts grant either 100% or some lesser percentage of copyright ownership in musical compositions and/or
administration rights. In other instances, those contracts only convey to Warner Chappell Music rights to administer musical compositions for a period of
time without conveying a copyright ownership interest. Our contracts grant us exclusive use rights in the territories concerned excepting any pre-existing
arrangements. Many of our contracts grant us rights on a global basis. Warner Chappell Music customarily possesses administration rights for every
musical composition created by the writer or composer during the exclusive acquisition term of the contract.

While the duration of the administration rights under contracts may vary, some of our contracts grant us ownership and/or administration rights for
the duration of copyright. See “—Intellectual Property—Copyrights.” U.S. copyright law permits authors or their estates to terminate an assignment or
license of copyright (for the United States only) after a set period of time. See “Risk Factors—We face a potential loss of catalog to the extent that our
recording artists have a right to recapture rights in their recordings under the U.S. Copyright Act.”

Our Recording Artist and Songwriter Value Proposition

Our success is a function of attracting exceptioria] talent and helping them build long and lucrative careers. In an environment where music
entertainment companies often fiercely compete to sign recording artists and songwriters, our ability to differentiate our core capabilities is crucial. We are
constantly strengthening our skill sets, as well as evolving and expanding the comprehensive suite of services we prov1de Our goal is not to be the biggest
music entertainment company, but the best.

In the digital world, consumers have more than 100 million tracks at their fingertips, growing at a rate of approximately 100,000 songs per day.
The sheer volume of music being released on digital music services is making it harder for recording artists and songwriters to stand out and get noticed. At
the same time, music that is fresh and original is currently what resonates most strongly on digital music services. We believe our Recorded Music and
Music Publishing businesses remain not just relevant, but essential to the booming music entertainment economy. Our proven ability to cut through the
noise is more necessary and valuable than ever.

- Below is an overview of the many creative and commercial services we provide our recording artists and songwriters. Our interests are aligned
with theirs. By creating value for our recording artists and songwriters, we create value for ourselves. That philosophy is behind our current momentum,
and we believe it will continue to propel our business into the future.

Welcoming Talent

We offer recording artists and songwriters numerous pathways into our ecosystem. Whether it is an up-and-coming songwriter making music in
his or her bedroom, a breakout superstar recording artist selling out stadiums or an icon looking to curate a legacy, we offer the necessary support and
resources. N

We are not just searching for immediate hits. We scout and sign talent with the market potential for longevity and lasting impact. As a result, we
are investing in more new music every year without losing our commitment to each recording artist and songwriter. It is that focus, patience and passion
that has built and sustained the reputation that perpetuates our cycle of success.

Creative Partnership

Our A&R executives both champion and challenge the talent they sign, empowenng them to realize thelr visions and evolve over time. Our
longstanding relationships within the creative community also provide our recording artists and songwriters with a wide network of collaborators, which is
a vital part of helping them to realize their best work. We provide the investment that gives our recording artists and songwriters the requisite time and
space to experiment and flourish. This includes access to a multitude of songwriters’ rooms and recording studios around the globe with more to come.
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Marketing and Promotional Firepower

We are experts in the art of amplification, with proven specialties in every aspect of marketing and promotion. From every meaningful digital
music service and social media network to radio, press, film, television and retail, we are plugged into the most influential people and platforms for music
entertainment. At the same time, by combining our collective experience with billions of transactions each and every week, we gather the insights needed
to make meaningful commercial decisions grounded in data-based discipline. Most importantly, we quickly adapt to changes in how music is consumed to
maximize the opportunities for our recording artists and songwriters. For example, we quxck]y honed our expertise in securing placement on playlists and
other valuable positioning on digital music semces

Global Reach and Local Expertise

As of September 30, 2022, we employed approximately 6,200 persons around the world. This means we can build local fan bases for international
recording artists and songwriters, as well as supply the network to deliver worldwide fame. Our local strength fuels our global impact and vice versa. We
employ a global priority system to provide as many recording artists as possible a genuine shot at success. Our approach combines a deep understanding of
local cultures, with a close-knit, nimble team that is in constant communication around the world.

‘

A Broad Universe of Opportunity

Albums, singles, videos and songs are still thé primary drivers for our business. But as the demand for music has grown, music has been woven
into the fabric of our daily lives in new and increasingly sophisticated ways. It is our job to help our recording artists and songwriters capitalize on this
expanding universe.

In our Recorded Music business, beyond digital and physical revenue streams, we provide a wide array of artist services, including merchandise,
e-commerce, VIP ticketing and fan clubs. In our Music Publishing business, we take an active role in expanding the consumption of music, through
performance, digital, mechanical, synchronization and, the original music publishing revenue stream, sheet music. Last year, we launched a creative
services team that is tasked with finding innovative ways to revitalize catalogs and create new possibilities for our songwriters.

In 2017, we launched a film and television unit and subsequently acquired additional video production capabilities in order to offer greater
storytelling possibilities for our recording artists and songwriters. '

* The centralization of our teéhnology capabilities and data insights has resulted in increased transparency of our royalty reporting to our recording
artists and songwriters. We defend and protect our recording artists’ and songwriters’ creative cutput by remaining vigilant in the collection of different
types of royalties around the world and defending against illegitimate and illegal uses of our owned and controlled copyrights.

Representative Sample of Recording Artists and Songwriters

Our Recorded Music business includes music from:

. Global supersfars such as Ed Sheeran, Cardi B, Bruno Mars, Lizzo, Coldplay, Dua Lipa, Michael Bubié, Kelly Clarkson, David Guetta,
Kenny Chesney, Madonna, Neil Young, Red Hot Chili Peppers, Prince, Pink Floyd, Dav1d Bowié, Fleetwood Mac, Aretha Franklin and
The Smiths.
. Next—generatlon talent including Megan Thee Stallion, Jack Harlow, Roddy Ricch, Saweetie, Paulo Londra, Burna Boy, Bebe Rexha,
. Zach Bryan Ashnikko, PinkPantheress and CKay.
< International stars such as Anitta, Aya Nakamura, TWICE, Ava Max, Charlie Puth, Capo Plaza, Pablo Alboran, Udo Lindenberg and

Laura Pausini.
\

Our Music Publishing business includes musical compositions by:

e Superstars such as Madonna, William Corgan, Belly, Cardi B, Bruno Mars, Anderson Paak, Lizzo, Tones and I, Pablo Alboran, Lin
Manuel Miranda, Chris Stapleton, Dan + Shay, Tayla Parx, Damon Albarn, Dave Mustaine, Katy Perry and Kacey Musgraves.

. International talent such as Jonathan Lee, Tia Ray, Manuel Medrano, Melendi, Bausa, Shy’ni, Tove Lo, Joaquin Sabina and Jack & Coke.
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. . Songwriting icons like David Bowie, Cole Porter, Grateful Dead, Led Zeppelin, Quincy Jones, George Michael, Marco Antonio Solis,
Eric Clapton, Brody Brown, Liz Rose, Justin Tranter, busbee, The-Dream, Dr. Dre, Stephen Sondheim, George & Ira Gershwin and
Gamble & Huff.

Competition

In our Recorded Music and Music Publishing businesses, we compete based on marketing (including both how we allocate our marketing
resources as well as how much we spend on a dollar basis) and on recordmg artist and songwriter signings. We believe we currently compete favorably in
these areas. . .

Our Recorded Music business is also dependent on technological development, including access to, selection and viability of new technologies,
and is subject to potential pressure from competitors as a result of their technological developments. Additionally, we compete, to a lesser extent, for
disposable consumer income with alternative forms of entertainment, content and leisure activities, such as cable and satellite television, motion pictures
and video games in physical and digital formats.

The recorded music industry is highly competitive based on consumer preferences and is rapidly changing. At its core, the recorded music
business relies on artistic talent. As such, competitive strength is predicated upon the ability to continually develop and market new recording artists whose
work gains commercial acceptance. According to Music & Copyright, in 2021, the three largest recorded music companies were Universal Music Group,
Sony Music Entertainment and us, which collectively accounted for approximately 70% of global recorded music revenues. There are many mid-sized and
smaller players in the industry that accounted for the remaining approximately 30%, including independent recorded music companies. Universal Music
Group was the market leader with an approximately 32% global market share in 2021 after absorbing the bulk of the recorded music assets of the former
EMI in late 2012, followed by Sony Music Entertainment with an approximately 21% share. We held an approximately 16% share of global recorded
music revenues in 2021.

The music publishing industry is also highly competitive. The three largest music publishing companies collectively accounted for approximately
60% of the global market in 2021 according to Music & Copyright. According to Music & Copyright, Sony Music Publishing was the market leader in
music publishing in 2021 with an approximately 25% share (reflecting its ownership of the EMI music publishing assets). Universal Music Publishing was
the second-largest music publisher with an approximately 23% share, followed by us at approximately 12%. There are many mid-sized and smaller players
in the industry that account for the remaining approximately 40%, including many individual songwriters who publish their own works.

Intellectual Property
Copyrights

Our business, like that of other companies involved in the music entertainment industry, rests on our ability to maintain rights in sound recordings
and musical compositions through copyright protection. In the United States, copyright protection for works created as “works made for hire” (e.g., works
of employees or certain specially commissioned works) on or after January 1,'1978 generally lasts for 95 years from first publication or 120 years from
creation, whichever expires first. The period of copyright protection for works created on or after January 1, 1978 that are not “works made for hire” lasts
for the life of the author plus 70 years. Works created and published or registered in the United States prior to January 1, 1978 generally enjoy copyright
protection for 95 years, subject to compliance with certain statutory provisions including notice and renewal. Additionally, the MMA extended federal
copyright protection in the U.S. to sound recordings created prior to February 15, 1972. The duration of copyright protection for such sound recordings
varies based on the year of publication, with all such sound recordings receiving copyright protection for at least 95 years, and sound recordings pubhshed
between January I, 1957 and February 15, 1972 receiving copyright protection until February 15, 2067. The term of copyright in the EU for musical
compositions in all member states lasts for the life of the author plus 70 years.

In the EU, the term of copyright for sound recordings lasts for 70 years from the date of release in respect of sound recordings that were still in
copyright on November 1, 2013 and for 50 years from date of release in respect of sound recordings the copyright in which had expired by that date. The
EU also harmonized the copyright term for joint musical works. In the case of 2 musical composition with words that is protected by copyright on or after
November 1, 2013, EU member states are required to calculate the life of the author plus 70 years term from the date of death of the last surviving author of
the lyrics and the composer of the musical composition, provided that both contributions were specifically created for the musical composition. '

We are largely dependent on legislation in each territory in which we operate to protect our rights against unauthorized reproduction, distribution,

public performance or rental. In all territories where we operate, our intellectual property receives some degree of copyright protection, although the extent
of effective protection varies widely. In a number of developing countries, the protection of copyright remains inadequate.
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Technological changes have focused attention on the need for new legislation that will adequately protect the rights of producers. We actively
lobby in favor of industry efforts to increase copyright protection and support the efforts of organizations such as RIAA, TFPI, National Music Publishers’
Association, International Confederation of Music Publishers and the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Trademarks

We consider our trademarks to be valuable assets to our business. Although we cannot assure you that our trademark applications, even for major
trademarks, will register, we endeavor to register our major trademarks in every country where we believe the protection of these trademarks is important
for our business. Our major trademarks include 300 Entertainment, ADA, Asylum, Atlantic, East West, Elektra, EMP, Erato, Nonesuch, Parlophone,
Reprise, Rhino, Roadrunner, Sire, Songkick, SPINNIN’ RECORDS and Warner Chappell, and their respective logos. We also use certain trademarks
pursuant to a royalty-free license agreement.. The duration of the license relating to the WARNER, WARNER MUSIC and WARNER RECORDS word
marks and “W” logo is perpetual, but may be terminated under certain limited circumstances, including our material breach of the license agreement and
certain events of insolvency. We actively monitor and protect against activities that might infringe, dilute or otherwise harm our trademarks. However, the -
actions we take to protect our trademarks may not be adequate to prevent third parties from infringing, diluting, or otherwise harming our trademarks, and
" the laws of foreign countries may not protect our trademark rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.

Joint Ventures

We have entered into joint venture arrangements pursuant to which we or, our various subsidiary companies distribute, market, promote, license
and sell (in most cases, domestically and internationally) recordings and other rights owned by the joint ventures. An example of this arrangement is Frank
Sinatra Enterprises, a joint venture established to administer licenses for use of Frank Sinatra’s name and likeness and manage all aspects of his music, film
and stage content. .

Human Capital

As of September 30, 2022, we employed approximately 6,200 persons worldwide, including temporary and part-time employees as well as
employees that were added through acquisitions. As of such date, none of our employees in the United States were subject to a collective bargaining
agreement, although certain employees in our non-domestic companies were covered by national labor agreements. We believe that our relationship with
our employees is good.

As a global music entertainment company, we recognize the strength that diversity brings to our teams. The work we do is powered by our
diverse, talented and motivated employees, and we are dedicated to cultivating a culture of belonging that supports the ability of every person to grow and
thrive. We continually invest in our employees’ career growth and provide employees with a wide range of development opportunities, including learning,
mentoring, coaching and development programs. To support employee well-being in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the transition to full-time
work from home, we established a number of programs, including flexible work schedule options, and provided employees with a home office stipend and
other benefits and support to care for themselves or family members impacted by COVID-19.

Corporate Information

. Warner Music Group Corp. is a Delaware corporation. Qur principal executive offices are located at 1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019,
and our telephone number is (212) 275-2000. Our website is www.wmg.com. Information on, or accessible through, our website or any other website is not
incorporated by reference herein. All website addresses in this Annual Report are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those
forms are available free of charge through our website (investors.wmg.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the
SEC. The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and
other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at.www.sec.gov. None of the information contained on, or that may be accessed
through our websites or any other website identified herein, is part of, or incorporated into, this filing. All website addresses in this Annual Report are
intended to be inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report, certain risk factors should be considered carefully in evaluating our
business. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties that we do not currently know
about or that we currently believe are immaterial may also adversely impact our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our
business, financial condition or results of operations would likely suffer. This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 274 of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Actual results and the timing of
events could differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those set forth below and elsewhere
in this Annual Report. See "“Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” following this Item 1A4. Risk Factors.

Risks Related to Our Operations

We may be unable to compete successfully in the highly competitive markets in which we operate, and we may suffer reduced profits as a result.

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive, have experienced ongoing consolidation among major music entertainment companies
and are driven by consumer preferences that are rapidly changing. Additionally, they require substantial human and capital resources. We compete with
other recorded music companies and music publishing companies to identify and sign new recording artists and songwriters with the potential to achieve
long-term success and to enter into and renew agreements with established recording artists and songwriters. In addition, our competitors may from time to
time increase the amounts they spend to discover, or to market and promote, recording artists and songwriters or reduce the prices of their music in an effort
to expand market share. We may lose business if we are unable to sign successful recording artists or songwriters or to match the prices offered by our
competitors. Our Recorded Music business competes not only with other recorded music companies, but also with recording artists who may choose to
distribute their own works (which has become more practicable as music is distributed online rather than physically) and companies in other industries
(such as Spotify) that may choose to sign direct deals with recording artists or recorded music companies. Our Music Publishing business competes not
only with other music publishing companies, but also with songwriters who publish their own works and companies in other industries that may choose to
sign direct deals with songwriters or music publishing companies. In addition to competition from traditional music industry players, we also face
competition from new entrants, including investment funds that make acquisitions or investments in recorded music or music publishing catalogs and the
income streams derived therefrom. The Recorded Music business also faces competition from other forms of entertainment and leisure activities, such as
cable and satellite television, motion pictures and video games in physical and digital formats.

Our prospects and financial results may be adversely affected if we fail to ideniiﬁ:, sign and retain recording artists and songwriters and by the
existence or absence of superstar releases. :

We are dependent on identifying, signing and retaining recording artists with long-term potential, whose debut music is well received on release,
whose subsequent music is anticipated by consumers and whose music will continue to generate sales as part of our catalog for years to come. The
competition among record companies for such talent is intense. Competition among record companies to sell and otherwise market and promote music is
also intense. We are also dependent on signing and retaining songwriters who will write the hit songs of today and the classics of tomorrow. Our
competitive position is dependent on our continuing ability to attract and develop recording artists and songwriters whose work can achieve a high degree
of public acceptance and who can timely deliver their music to us. Our financial results may be adversely affected if we are unable to identify, sign and
retain such recording artists and songwriters under terms that are economically attractive to us, including with respect to recording commitments, advance
and royalty obligations and rights retention. Qur financial results may also be affected by the existence or absence of superstar recording artist releases
during a particular period. Some music entertainment industry observers believe that the number of superstar recording acts with long-term appeal, both in
terms of catalog sales and future releases, has declined in recent years. Additionally, our financial results are generally affected by the appeal of our
recorded music and music publishing catalogs to consumers. - )

If streaming adoption or revenue grows less rapid'ly or levels off, our prospects and our results of operations may be adversely affected.

Streaming revenue is important because it has offset declines in downloads and physical sales and represents a growing area of our business.
According to [FPI, streaming revenue, which includes revenue from ad-supported and subscription services, accounted for approximately 94% of digital
revenue in 2021, up approximately 2% year-over-year. There can be no assurance that this growth pattern will persist or that digital revenue will continue
to grow at a rate sufficient to offset and exceed declines in downloads and physical sales. If growth in streaming revenue levels off or fails to grow as
quickly as it has over the past several years, our business may experience reduced levels of revenue and operating income.
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We are substantially dependent on a limited number of digital music services for the online distribution and marketing of our music, and they are able
to significantly influence the pricing structure for online music stores and may not correctly calculate royalties under license agreements.

) We derive an increasing portion of our revenue from the licensing of music through digital distribution channels. We are currently dependent on a

small number of leading digital music services. In fiscal year 2022, revenue earned under our license agreements with our top three digital music accounts,
Spotify, YouTube and Apple, accounted for approximately 40% of our total revenue. We have limited ability to increase our wholesale prices to digital
music services as a small number of digital music services control much of the legitimate digital music business. If these services were to adopt a lower
pricing model or if there were structural changes to other pricing models, we could receive substantially less for our music, which could cause a material
reduction in-our revenue, unless offset by a corresponding increase in the number of subscribers or transactions. We currently enter into short-term license -
agreements with many digital music services and provide our music on an at-will basis to others. There can be no assurance that we will be able to renew or
enter into new license agreements with any digital music service. The terms of these license agreements, including the royalties that we receive pursuant to
them, may change as a result of changes in our bargaining power, changes in the industry, changes in the law or for other reasons. Decreases in royalty
rates, rates of revenue sharing or changes to other terms of these license agreements may materially impact our business, operating results and financial
conditien. Digital music services generally accept and make available all of the music that we deliver to them. However, if digital music services in the
future decide to limit the types or amount of music they will accept from music entertainment companies like us, our revenue could be significantly
reduced. See “Business—Recorded Music—Sales and Digital Distribution.”

We are also substantially dependent on a limited number of digital music services for the marketing of our music. A significant proportion of the
music streamed on digital music services is from playlists curated by those services or generated from those services’ algorithms. If these services were to |
fail to include our music on playlists, change the position of our music on playlists or give us less marketing space, it could adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Under our license agreements and relevant statutes, we receive royalties from digital music services in exchange for the rights to stream or
otherwise offer our music. The determination of the amount and timing of such payments is complex and subject to a number of variables, including the
revenue generated, the type of music offered and the country in which it is sold, identification of the appropriate licensor, and the service tier on which
music is made available. As a result, we may not be paid appropnately for our music. Failure to be accurately paid our royalties may adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

4

-Our business operations in some foreign countries subject us to trends, developments or other events which may afffect us adversely.

We are a global company with strong local presences, which have become increasingly important as the popularity of music originating from a
country’s own language and culture has increased in recent years. Our mix of national and international recording artists and songwriters is designed to
provide a significant degree of diversification. However, our music does not necessarily enjoy universal appeal and if it does not continue to appeal in
various countries, our results of operations could be adversely impacted. As a result, our results can be affected not only by general industry trends, but also
by trends, developments or other events in individual countries, including:

. limited legal protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights;

. restrictions on the repatriation of capital;

. fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates;l

. differences and unexpected changes in regulatory environment, including environmental, health and safety local planning, zoning and
labor laws, rules and regulations;

. varying tax regirnes which could adversely affect our results of operations or cash flows, including regulations relating to transfer pricing
and withholding taxes on remittances and other payments by subsidiaries and joint ventures;

. exposure to different legal standards and enforcement mechanisms and the associated cost of compliance;

. difficulties in attracting and retaining qualified management and eniployees or rationalizing our workforce;

- tariffs, duties, export controls and other trade barriers; ‘ ‘

. global economic and retail environment;

. longer accounts réceivable settlement cycles and difficulties in coilecting accounts receivable;

. recessionary trends, inflation and 'ms’tability of the financial markets;
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. higher interest rates; and
. political instability. ' ‘ _ .

: We may not be able to insure or hedge against these risks, and we may not be able to ensure compliance with all of the applicable regulations
without incurring additional costs, or at all. For example, our results of operations could be impacted by fluctuations of the U.S. dollar against most
currencies. See “—Unfavorable currency exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect our results of operations.” Furthermore, financing may not be
available in countries with less than investment-grade sovereign credit ratings. As a result, it may be difficult to create or maintain profitable operations in *
various countries. ’ .

In addition, our results can be affected by trends, developments and other events in individual countries. There can be no assurance that in the
future country-specific trends, developments or other events will not have a significant adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial
condition. Unfavorable conditions can depress revenues in any given market and prompt promotional or other actions that adversely affect our margins. On
February 24, 2022, the geopolitical situation in Eastern Europe intensified with Russia's invasion of Ukraine, and the sanctions and other measures imposed
in response to this conflict have increased global economic and political uncertainty. We own Recorded Music and Music Publishing businesses within
Russia and, on March 10, 2022, the Company announced a suspension of these operations. While our operations in Russia do not constitute a material
portion of our business, a significant escalation or expansion of the conflict's current scope, increased or sustained economic disruption, sanctions or
countersanctions, further devaluation of the local currency or increased cyber-related disruptions could make it difficult to deliver our content, increase
costs, and have an adverse effect on our results of operations. ' .

Unfavorable currency exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect our results of operations.

As we continue to expand our international operations, we become increasingly exposed to the effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates.
The reporting currency for our financial statements is the U.S. dollar. We have substantial assets, liabilities, revenues and costs denominated in currencies -
other than U.S. dollars. To prepare our consolidated financial statements, we must translate those assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses into U.S. dollars
at then-applicable exchange rates. Consequently, increases and decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar versus other currencies will affect the amount of
these items in our consolidated financial statements, even if their value has not changed in their original currency. These translations could result in
significant changes to our results of operations from period to period. Prior to intersegment eliminations, 54% of our revenues related to operations in
foreign territories for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022. From time to time, we enter into foreign exchange contracts to hedge the risk of
unfavorable foreign currency exchange rate movements. During the current fiscal year, we have hedged a portion of our material foreign currency
exposures related to royalty payments remitted between our foreign affiliates and our U.S. affiliates. However, these hedging strategies should not be
expected to fully eliminate the foreign exchange rate risk to which we are exposed.

Our business may be adversely affected by competitive market conditions, and we may not be able to execute our business strategy.

We expect to increase revenues and cash flow through a business strategy which requires us, among other things, to continue to maximize the
value of our music, to sigﬁiﬁcant]y‘reduce costs to maximize flexibility and adjust to new realities of the market, to continue to act to contain digital piracy
and to diversify our revenue streams into growing segments of the music entertainment business by continuing to capitalize on digital distribution and
emerging technologies, entering into expanded-rights deals with recording artists and by operating our artist services businesses.

Each of these initiatives requires sustained management focus, organization and coordination over significant periods of time. Each-of these
initiatives also requires success in building relationships with third parties and in anticipating and keeping up with technological developments and
consumer preferences and may involve the implementation of new business models or distribution platforms. The results of our strategy and the success of
our implementation of this strategy will not be known for some time in the future. If we are unable to implement our strategy successfully or properly react
to changes in market conditions, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely.affected.

Our business is to a large extent dependent on technological developments, including access to and selection and viability of new technologies,
and is subject to potential pressure from competitors as a result of their technological developments. For example, our business may be further adversely
affected by technological developments that facilitate the piracy of music, such as Internet peer-to-peer file sharing, by an inability to enforce our
intellectual property rights in digital environments and by a failure to further-develop successful business models applicable to a digital environment.
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Our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition are expected to continue to be adversely impacted by the coronavirus pandemic.

On March 11, 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak (also referred to as “COVID”) was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization.
The pandemic has had and will have an adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The virus Gutbreak resulted in disruptions in manufacturing and physical supply chains, and resulted in mandated closure of physical retailers,
requirements that people stay in their homes and delays in the release of new recordings from artists with a more physical consumer base.

It temporarily ended and has continued to limit live concert tours, adversely impacting our concert promotion business and our sale of tour
merchandise. It made it more difficult for artists to engage in marketing efforts around the release of their new recordings which, in some cases, led to our
decision to delay the release of those recordings. It delayed the release of new recordings by impeding the types of collaboration among artists, songwriters,
producers, musicians, engineers and studios which are necessary for the delivery of those recordings.

We also experienced a decline in licensing revenue and, to a lesser extent, ad-supported digital revenue-in our Recorded Music business and
synchronization, performance and ad-supported digital revenue in our Music Publishing business.

To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic continues to adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition, it may
also have the effect of heightening other risks described in this section. .

Given the uncertainty around the extent and timing of the potential future spread or mitigation of the virus and around the imposition or relaxation
of protective measures, we cannot at this time reasonably estimate the impact to our future results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Our ability to operate effectively could be impaired if we fail to attract and retain our executive officers. : i R

We compete with other music entertainment companies and other companies for top talent, including executive officers. Our success depends, in
part, upon the continuing contributions of our executive officers, however, there is no guarantee that they will not leave. In fiscal year 2022, we did not
have an employment agreement with our CEO. However, we have an employment agreement with our new CEO and other executive officers and they and
other members of management are participants in our equity plans. The loss of the services of any of our executive officers or key members of management
or the failure to attract and retain other executive officers could have a material adverse effect on our business or our business prospects. '

.

A significant portion of our revenue is subject to rate regulation either by government entities or by local third-party collecting societies throughout the
world and rates on other income streams may be set by governmental proceedings, which may limit our profitability.

Mechanical royalties and performance royalties are two of the main sources of income to our Music Publishing business and mechanical royalties
are a significant expense to our Recorded Music business. In the United States, mechanical royalty rates are set every five years pursuant to an -
administrative process under the U.S. Copynght Act, unless rates are determined through industry negotiations, and performance royalty rates are
determined by negotiations with perfonmng rights societies, the largest of which, ASCAP and BMI, are subject to a consent decree rate-setting process if
negotiations are unsuccessful. Outside the United States, mechanical and performance royalty rates are typically negotiated on an industry-wide basis. In
most territories outside the United States, mechanical royalties are based on a percentage of wholesale prices for physical product and based on a )

" percentage of consumer prices for digital formats. The mechanical and performance royalty rates set pursuant to such processes may adversely affect us by
limiting our ability to increase the profitability of our Music Publishing business. If the mechanical and performance royalty rates are set too high it may
also adversely affect us by limiting our ability to increase the profitability of our Recorded Music business. In addition, rates our Recorded Music business
receives in the United States for webcasting and satellite radio are set every five years by an administrative process under the U.S. Copyright Act unless
tates are determined through industry negotiations. It is important as revenue continues to shift from physical to diversified distribution channels that we
receive fair value for all of the uses of our intellectual property as our business model now depends upon multiple revenue streams from multiple sources.
The rates set for recorded music and music publishing income sources through collecting societies or legally prescribed rate-setting processes could have a
material adverse impact on our business prospécts.

23




An impairment in the carrying value of goodwill or other intangible and long-lived assets could negatively affect our operating results and equity.

As of September 30, 2022, we had $1.920 billion of goodwill and $145 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets. Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC) Topic 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (“ASC 350”) requires that we test
these assets for impairment annually (or more frequently should indications of impairment arise) by first assessing qualitative factors and then by
quantitatively estimating the fair value of each of our reporting units (calculated using a discounted cash flow method) and comparing that value to the
reporting units’ carrying value, if necessary. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, there is a potential impairment and additional testing must be
performed. In performing our annual tests and determining whether indications of impairment exist, we consider numerous factors including actual and
projected operating results of each reporting unit, external market factors such as market prices for similar assets and trends in the music entertainment
industry. We performed an annual assessment, at July 1, 2022, of the recoverability of our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles as of September 30,
2022, noting no instances of impairment. However, future events may occur that could adversely affect the estimated fair value of our reporting units. Such
events may include, but are not limited to, strategic decisions made in response to changes in economic and competitive conditions and the impact of the
economic environment on our operatin